1616

Humoral immune responses to AAV gene therapy in the ocular compartment

Michael Whitehead¹*^(D), Andrew Osborne¹, Patrick Yu-Wai-Man^{1,2,3} and Keith Martin^{1,4,5,6}

¹John Van Geest Centre for Brain Repair, Department of Clinical Neuroscience, University of Cambridge, Cambridge, U.K.

²MRC Mitochondrial Biology Unit, Department of Clinical Neurosciences, University of Cambridge, Cambridge, U.K.

³NIHR Biomedical Research Centre at Moorfields Eye Hospital and UCL Institute of Ophthalmology, London, U.K.

⁴Wellcome Trust-MRC Cambridge Stem Cell Institute, University of Cambridge, Cambridge, U.K.

⁵Centre for Eye Research Australia, Royal Victorian Eye and Ear Hospital, Melbourne, VIC, Australia

⁶Ophthalmology, Department of Surgery, University of Melbourne, Melbourne, VIC, Australia

ABSTRACT

Viral vectors can be utilised to deliver therapeutic genes to diseased cells. Adeno-associated virus (AAV) is a commonly used viral vector that is favoured for its ability to infect a wide range of tissues whilst displaying limited toxicity and immunogenicity. Most humans harbour anti-AAV neutralising antibodies (NAbs) due to subclinical infections by wild-type virus during infancy and these pre-existing NAbs can limit the efficiency of gene transfer depending on the target cell type, route of administration and choice of serotype. Vector administration can also result in *de novo* NAb synthesis that could limit the opportunity for repeated gene transfer to diseased sites. A number of strategies have been described in preclinical models that could circumvent NAb responses in humans, however, the successful translation of these innovations into the clinical arena has been limited. Here, we provide a comprehensive review of the humoral immune response to AAV gene therapy in the ocular compartment. We cover basic AAV biology and clinical application, the role of pre-existing and induced NAbs, and possible approaches to overcoming antibody responses. We conclude with a framework for a comprehensive strategy for circumventing humoral immune responses to AAV in the future.

Key words: AAV, gene therapy, retina, ocular, neutralizing antibodies, immune response

CONTENTS

I.	Introduction	1617
II.	Successes in aav clinical trials	1617
III.	Immune responses to aav – key considerations	1618
	(1) How are immune responses initiated?	1618
	(2) Is AAV non-pathogenic and non-immunogenic?	1618
	(3) Innate immune responses to AAV	
	(4) Cellular immune responses to AAV	
	(a) Pre-existing cellular immunity to AAV	1620
	(b) Induction of anti-AAV cellular immune responses	1620
IV.	Humoral immune responses to aav	1621
	(1) How are antibodies produced?	
	(2) How do antibodies neutralise AAV?	
	(3) Pre-existing humoral immunity	
	(4) Induction of anti-AAV humoral immune responses	
	(a) Gene therapy trials targeting the liver and skeletal muscle	1623

^{*} Address for correspondence (Tel: +447983364605; E-mail: mw684@cam.ac.uk)

Biological Reviews **96** (2021) 1616–1644 © 2021 The Authors. Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society. This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

	(b) Gene therapy trials targeting the central nervous system	3
	(c) Gene therapy trials targeting the eye	4
	(i) Gene delivery to the outer retina by subretinal injection	ō
	(ii) Gene delivery to the inner retina by intravitreal injection	3
	(iii) Is the eve immune-privileged with respect to AAV gene therapies?	3
V.	Possible strategies to circumvent humoral immunity to aav	5
	(1) Overcoming pre-existing AAV NAbs [63]	5
	(a) Altering the route of administration 1630	Ś
	(a) Lise of alternative AAV vectors 1630	Ś
	(c) Chemical modification of AAV [163]	5
	(d) Use of decov cabrids	2
	(a) Else of accopy supports 1000 (e) Plasmatheresis 1639	ş
	(f) Use of bharmacological immunosubbressants 1634	4
	(g) Use of NAb degrading enzymes 1624	1 1
	(2) Preventing the induction of AAV NAbs [162]	т 4.
	(2) Interesting the induction of AAV WADS	г 1
	(a) Introduced of 1-teal activation 103^{-1}	r 5
	$(0) Innuouson 0 D ceu activation \dots \dots 1053$) c
	(c) Use of pharmacological immunosuppressants) 7
x 77	(3) Overcoming humoral immune responses to AAV – the need for a comprehensive approach163,	/
	Lonciusions	1
VII.	Keterences	J

I. INTRODUCTION

Adeno-associated virus (AAV) is a non-enveloped Parvovirus that was originally identified as a contaminant in adenoviral cultures (Hastie & Samulski, 2015). The virus exhibits a T = 1 icosahedral shape with a 25 nm diameter (Srivastava, Lusby & Berns, 1983). AAV capsid proteins contain a single-stranded DNA (ssDNA) genome (Rose et al., 1969) flanked by inverted terminal repeats (ITRs) (McLaughlin et al., 1988). Transcription mapping of the genome of AAV2 reveals three overlapping messenger RNA (mRNA) molecules that are produced from three promoters: p5, p19 and p40 (Laughlin, Westphal & Carter, 1979). The p5 and p19 promoters are known to mediate expression of *rep* genes required for AAV DNA replication and packaging of genetic cargo into AAV particles (Im & Muzyczka, 1990), whereas the p40 promoter drives transcription of *cap* gene mRNA, which is alternatively spliced to yield three distinct protein products, VP1, VP2 and VP3 in a 1:1:10 ratio (Becerra et al., 1988). p40 also mediates expression of assembly-activating protein (AAP) in a different open reading frame (ORF) (Samulski & Muzyczka, 2014). AAP is not present in mature AAV capsids, but is known to play a key role in enabling production of high-titre AAV preparations for certain serotypes (Maurer et al., 2018).

To produce recombinant AAV (rAAV) for gene therapy, the *rep/cap* genes are removed and replaced with a therapeutic gene and a promoter sequence to drive expression. The maximum size of a genetic sequence that can be cloned/ synthesised between the ITRs is around 4.7 kbp, which limits the application of AAV in diseases requiring the delivery of large gene expression cassettes exceeding this capacity (Wu, Yang & Colosi, 2010). When rAAV genomes enter the cell nuclei, second-strand synthesis occurs that converts a linear ssDNA molecule into a double-stranded DNA (dsDNA) episome, thus enabling the synthesis of therapeutic constructs (Choi, McCarty & Samulski, 2006). Achieving nuclear transfer of AAV genetic cargo is a complex multistep process, however. First, the virus must bind to a cell and undergo endocytosis by utilising a number of primary receptors and co-receptors, many of which have not yet been identified (Pillay et al., 2016). AAV then 'escapes' from the endosome as it acidifies and it is thought to be trafficked to the nucleus via a nuclear localisation sequence (NLS) on the VP1 and VP2 capsid monomers (Xiao & Samulski, 2012). Recent studies have shown that nuclear import of rAAV is mediated by nuclear pore complexes (NPCs) and this process is dependent upon interactions with importin- α (Kelich *et al.*, 2015). After nuclear import, rAAV capsids uncoat, thereby releasing their genetic cargo into the target cell (Berry & Asokan, 2016).

II. SUCCESSES IN AAV CLINICAL TRIALS

A number of successful clinical trials have now demonstrated the potential for using AAV as a gene transfer device for therapeutic purposes. AAV is an attractive vector for human gene therapy benefitting from several advantages. First, it is largely non-integrating, thereby reducing the risk of insertional mutagenesis *via* the disruption of tumour suppressor genes, which is a major concern for lentiviral gene therapies, for example (Moiani *et al.*, 2012). Second, AAV can be used to target a very broad range of cell types as a number of different serotypes exist, each with a unique tissue tropism (Srivastava, 2016). Whilst the packaging capacity of AAV is relatively limited, it is thought to induce transgene expression in both dividing and non-dividing cells (Colella, Ronzitti & Mingozzi, 2018). Finally, although there is an emerging body of evidence implicating a negative impact of humoral and cellular immune responses on AAV-mediated gene transfer, AAV is largely considered a safe vector for human gene therapy, especially when delivered locally close to the site of pathology, such as the vitreous cavity of the eye (Khabou *et al.*, 2018).

At the time of writing, three gene therapy programmes have demonstrated efficacy in phase III studies. Zolgensma (onasemnogene abeparvovec-xioi) was approved by the USA FDA in 2019 for the treatment of spinal muscular atrophy (SMA) in patients harbouring biallelic mutations in the smn1 gene. The therapy utilises the AAV9 serotype, which is unique in its ability to cross the blood-brain barrier (BBB), to deliver circular DNA (cDNA) encoding the smn1 gene under control of the CAG promoter (Shahryari et al., 2019). In one study, participants demonstrated remarkable improvements in motor function and quality of life, with 11/12 patients achieving full head control and two patients even walking independently (Rao, Kapp & Schroth, 2018; Al-Zaidy et al., 2019). Luxturna (voretigene neparvovec) is an AAV2-based gene therapy for Leber's Congenital Amaurosis type 2 (LCA2). LCA2 is caused by biallelic (homozygous or compound heterozygous) mutations in the retinal pigment epithelium-65 (rpe65) gene, which encodes a critical enzyme essential for visual processing by converting alltrans-retinyl esters to 11-cis-retinol during phototransduction (Cremers, 2002). In an open-label, randomised phase III study, no therapy-related serious adverse events or unacceptable immune responses occurred, whilst 65% of treated patients demonstrated improvements in visual function (Russell et al., 2017). Further assessment has corroborated the safety of the approach, demonstrating that Luxturna can deliver benefits to patients up to four years after administration (Maguire et al., 2019). In summary, the successful gene therapy programme for LCA2 illustrates the merits of AAV-mediated gene delivery to the outer retina by subretinal injection, providing the impetus for other programs targeting disorders affecting photoreceptors and retinal pigment epithelium (RPE). Programs targeting the inner retina, and specifically the retinal ganglion cell (RGC) layer, have also demonstrated promising results for the amelioration of genetic disease. Lenadogene (GS010) is an AAV2-based treatment for Leber's Hereditary Optic Neuropathy (LHON), which is is the most common cause of mitochondrial blindness, affecting at least 1 in 35000 of the population. The majority of patients carry one of three mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA) point mutations (m.3460A>G in MTDN1, m.11778G>A in MTND4, and m.14484T>C in MTND6), which all affect genes encoding subunits of the mitochondrial respiratory chain complex I (Yu-Wai-Man et al., 2014). In a phase III study, Lenadogene treatment resulted in improvements in best-corrected visual acuity (BCVA) with an increase of 26 Early Treatment Diabetic Retinopathy Study (ETDRS) letters in the treated eyes at

96 weeks following intravitreal injection, which is greater than expected from the natural history of LHON (Yu-Wai-Man, Moster & Sadun, 2019). Further, a secondary analysis of a phase I/II trial of patients receiving Lenadogene showed the treatment was safe and well tolerated, with mostly mild and transient intraocular inflammation in the anterior chamber and vitreous (Bouquet *et al.*, 2019). Overall, whilst Lenadogene is yet to obtain regulatory approval, the trials demonstrate the potential of AAV-mediated gene transfer to the inner retina. However, the unexpected observation that unilateral intravitreal injections given to patients resulted in improvements in visual acuity in the contralateral (untreated) eye is something that warrants further investigation (Yu-Wai-Man *et al.*, 2019).

III. IMMUNE RESPONSES TO AAV – KEY CONSIDERATIONS

(1) How are immune responses initiated?

An organism mounts an immune response to protect themselves against foreign protein structures, termed antigens, that may be detrimental to their survival. Immune responses can be classified as innate or adaptive. In an innate immune response, pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) are recognised by pattern recognition receptors (PRRs). This drives a rapid and non-specific response that does not induce any immunological memory (Mogensen, 2009). During a wild-type AAV infection, PRRs can recognise viral nucleic acids and membrane glycoproteins, which leads to nuclear factor κB (NF κB) and interferon regulatory factor (IRF) activation and synthesis of proinflammatory cytokines and type I interferons respectively (Vandamme, Adjali & Mingozzi, 2017). Adaptive immunity arises after the innate immune response and results in the development of 'immunological memory', which allows the organism to mount a faster and more efficient immune response when encountering the antigen for the second time. Adaptive immunity begins with the presentation of a particular antigen by an antigen presenting cell (APC) to T and B lymphocytes. These cells are then activated, and undergo clonal expansion (proliferation of T and B cells that are specific to the particular antigen that has been recognised). This is followed by T and B cell differentiation into effector cells [CD4+ or CD8+ T-cells, or plasma cells (PCs)] which act to eliminate the antigen via the destruction of virally infected cells or de novo antibody synthesis (Cui & Kaech, 2010; Pennock et al., 2013; Tellier & Nutt, 2019). Finally, a population of memory T and B cells remain which are able to recognise the antigen rapidly if the organism encounters it a second time (Dorak, 2002).

(2) Is AAV non-pathogenic and non-immunogenic?

Until recently, wild-type AAV was not generally considered to be associated with any known human pathology. This is considered a key factor given that up to 90% of people are thought to be asymptomatically infected with AAV throughout their lifetimes (Kruzik *et al.*, 2019). However, recent evidence has suggested a role for wild-type AAV2 in the development of hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC). The authors observed AAV2 genome integration in 11/194 HCC samples tested, and concluded that wild-type AAV2 may have been a causative factor *via* oncogenic insertional mutagenesis (Nault *et al.*, 2015). It should be emphasised however, that their findings related to wild-type AAV2 and in later publications, the authors clarified that their findings should not be confounded with the clinical use of rAAV gene therapies (Nault *et al.*, 2016). Given the inherent similarities between wild-type AAV2 and rAAV2 however, more research into the possibility of oncogenic genome insertion is needed.

A key factor underpinning the progress of AAV-based gene therapy into the clinic is the safety profile of the vector. Depending on the route of administration, choice of serotype and dosage used, rAAV exhibits a relatively tolerable safety profile when compared to other gene transfer devices like adenovirus and lentivirus (Nayak & Herzog, 2010). A number of theories have been suggested to explain why wild-type and rAAV appear to be relatively non-immunogenic. First, most AAV serotypes may be poor transducers of professional APCs, such as dendritic cells, and may only result in minimal upregulation of major histocompatibility complex (MHC; a key molecular player in the presentation of antigens to the immune system) proteins in target cell types. This has been demonstrated in a number of publications investigating immune-competent sites like the liver and muscle (Mays et al., 2014; Rossi et al., 2019), however, there is little literature to support this claim in sites generally considered more immune-privileged, like the eye and central nervous system (CNS). A second theory suggests that a lack of viral DNA in rAAV vectors reduces recognition by PRRs. Whilst the removal of *rep* and *cap* genes from rAAV particles obviates the in vivo proliferation of the virus, thereby avoiding amplification of capsid antigens, this theory does not explain why rAAV is less immunogenic than adenoviral vectors, for example, which also have the genes required for capsid replication removed. One possible explanation for the differences in immunogenicity observed between AAV and adenoviral vectors is that AAV transduction induces lower and more transient innate immune activation (Wold & Toth, 2014).

(3) Innate immune responses to AAV

Innate immune responses against AAV have recently been implicated as a possible cause for the toxicities that have been observed in gene therapy clinical trials. Innate immunity can be driven by anti-capsid and anti-nucleic acid pathways. It is now recognised that anti-capsid responses are likely derived via toll-like receptor 2 (TLR2) signalling, which is expressed on the cell surface (Hösel *et al.*, 2012). TLR9 signalling is responsible for the recognition of viral DNA sequences, and endosomal TLR9 has been implicated in the sensing of unmethylated CpG motifs in dendritic cell types (Rogers *et al.*, 2017). Further, upregulation of TLR9 has been correlated with improved antigen presentation to the naiive CD8+ T-cells with MHC class I molecules, and signalling of this receptor with myeloid differentiating factor 88 (MyD88) has been implicated as a key pathway instigating immune responses against transgenes in the liver and muscle (Ashley *et al.*, 2019; Herzog *et al.*, 2019). The interaction between plasmacytoid dendritic cells (pDCs) and AAV may be a key factor mediating the efficiency of *in vivo* gene transfer in certain organs. Recognition of viral DNA sequences by TLR9 activates MyD88 and the type I interferon cascasde, leading to NF κ B-dependent cytokine and chemokine production in the liver (Jayandharan *et al.*, 2011), an effect that has been linked to progressive transgenic silencing over time (Suzuki *et al.*, 2013).

It has been established that the inhibition of key molecular players in the pathways mediating activation of the innate immune response can prevent anti-AAV CD8+ cytotoxic T-cell responses. Here, inhibition of TLR9 and type I interferon signalling has been shown to attenuate anti-AAV2 CD8+ T-cell induction (Rogers *et al.*, 2017), and blockage of type I interferons with monoclonal antibody therapy has demonstrated reduced cross-priming of anti-AAV8 CD8+ T-cells by pDCs (Shirley *et al.*, 2020).

Innate immunity against dsRNA molecules was also recently identified by Shao *et al.* (2018). Their findings implicated AAV ITR-driven dsRNA synthesis as a cause of type I interferon expression in transduced hepatocytes and also demonstrated that inhibition of MDA5 (a cytoplasmic RNA sensor) improved transgene expression in these cells (Shao *et al.*, 2018). This study in particular highlights our evolving understanding of innate immunity against AAV vectors but also provides a tangible example of how clarifying the molecular mechanisms underpinning AAV immunity can improve efficacy in preclinical and clinical studies.

The role of natural killer (NK) cells as determinants of *in vivo* gene therapy outcome is perhaps less well characterised than other arms of the immune system, however, one study has highlighted a possible role for these innate cytotoxic cells in seronegative individuals. Here, treatment of peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) from seropositive patients with AAV capsids was associated with induction of an effector memory CD8+ phenotype (detected *via* granzyme B and CD107a degranulation marker expression), whilst PBMCs from seronegative patients treated with AAV was correlated with the activation of NK cells (Kuranda *et al.*, 2018).

(4) Cellular immune responses to AAV

The innate immune response is clearly linked to the development of cellular immunity against AAV vectors. Cellular immunity can be pre-existing (arises before administration of therapy; likely *via* asymptomatic infections by wild-type AAV) or arise *de novo* from the administration of an AAV gene therapy.

(a) Pre-existing cellular immunity to AAV

Pre-existing cellular immunity to AAV is thought to arise during infancy following a wild-type AAV infection, which was recently evidenced by flow cytometry analysis demonstrating a memory T-cell phenotype (i.e. expression of differentiation markers) in subjects' lymphocyte populations. These memory T-cells expressed interferon- γ (IFN γ), interleukin-2 (IL2) and tumour necrosis factor- α (TNF α) and exhibit a cytotoxic phenotype (induce apoptosis of AAV-infected cells) as demonstrated by expression of granzyme B and CD107a (Verdera, Kuranda & Mingozzi, 2020).

Whilst anti-AAV T-cells exhibit high cross-reactivity and demonstrate responses to a variety of AAV serotypes (Hui et al., 2015; Kuranda et al., 2018), the exact role of preexisting cellular immunity is not well understood, and it is noted that the patterns of T-cell reactivity to AAV in gene therapy trials differ from those seen during a typical viral infection. As Verdera et al. (2020) suggest, this observation may reflect the fact that the mode of administration of AAV gene therapies is the injection of a large number of non-replicating recombinant vectors into the body, which does not match that of an ongoing viral infection with replicating virions. More research is required to further our understanding of this aspect of cellular immunity against AAV which may be useful to inform inclusion and exclusion criteria in clinical trials, for example.

(b) Induction of anti-AAV cellular immune responses

As discussed above, a cellular immune response is mounted against AAV antigens following administration when APCs present immunogenic capsid proteins to cytotoxic CD8+Tcells via MHC class I. These capsid-specific T-cells are thus directed against AAV-infected cells and can induce their apoptosis via cell-mediated cytotoxicity. This effectively clears AAV-transduced cells and thereby decreases expression of a particular transgene product (Mingozzi et al., 2007; Pien et al., 2009). Presentation of viral capsid proteins on MHC class II can also occur, resulting in the activation of CD4+ T-cells, which are known to mediate both cellular and humoral immunity in response to AAV gene therapy (Chen et al., 2006). CD4+ T-cells mediate a number of immune processes, but are thought to be critical mediators of the antiviral response given their role in activating B-cells to become antigen-synthesising plasma cells, and in facilitating class switching to immunoglobulin G1 (IgG1) neutralising antibody (NAb) subtypes (Janeway, Travers & Walport, 2001).

One of the first examples of cellular immunity against AAV2 in the clinic was seen during haemophilia B gene therapy trials. After an initial intravenous infusion of 2E12 gc (genome copies)/kg AAV2 carrying a functional copy of the factor IX (FIX) gene, transgene expression reached levels around 10% of that seen in healthy controls. After 4 weeks however, FIX levels decreased to baseline levels in tandem

Michael Whitehead et al.

anti-AAV2 capsid T-cell response was implicated (Manno et al., 2006). Later studies confirmed this CD8+ T-cell response using enzyme-linked immunoabsorbent spot (ELISPOT) assays and flow cytometry in response to transduction of the liver, and showed that the T-cell response was directed against the AAV2 capsid protein (Mingozzi et al., 2007). In clinical trials investigating intramuscular delivery however, anti-AAV cellular immune responses have been observed, yet these have not apparently attenuated transgene expression in contrast to liver gene transfer studies (Brantly et al., 2006, 2009). A number of factors may underpin these differences, including the serotype used (AAV1 was used in the muscle gene transfer studies cited above), the route of administration used, the number of viral particles administered, and the immune status of the enrolled patients at baseline (i.e. when initially recruited to the study).

Anti-capsid cellular immune responses can clearly have a detrimental impact on the efficacy of AAV gene therapy. Anti-transgene cellular responses have also been noted involving both CD4+ and CD8+ T-cells. As with anticapsid CD8+ responses, anti-transgene cellular immunity can decrease transgene expression of AAV transduced cells via cell-mediated cytotoxicity mechanisms (Nidetz et al., 2020). A number of factors have been implicated as key mediators of anti-transgene cellular immunity, including the route of administration, choice of promoter, frequency of CpG-rich sequences, and secretion of the transgene product (Verdera et al., 2020). In the clinic however, anti-transgene cellular immune responses have only been observed in rare cases, usually in trials utilising the intramuscular delivery route, such as anti-Dystrophin T-cells in Duchenne's Muscular Dystrophy (DMD) trials, for example (Mendell et al., 2010). More recently, however, this effect has also been observed in organs considered to be more immune-privileged. In a clinical study investigating mucopolysaccharidosis type IIIB, antitransgene T-cells were documented following intracranial delivery of AAV5 (Tardieu et al., 2017).

Interestingly, anti-capsid T-cell responses may not necessarily be deleterious for AAV-mediated gene therapy strategies. Initiation of tolerance to AAV capsids in two clinical studies has been observed which appeared to be mediated by the induction of regulatory T-cell (Treg) responses in which signalling via the programmed cell death protein-1 (PD1) and its cognate ligand PDL-1 was implicated (Mueller et al., 2013; Ferreira et al., 2014). In these trials, patients received AAV1 intramuscular injections which apparently led to the infiltration of Treg cells in situ. The capacity of Treg cells to attenuate immune responses, for example by inhibiting CD8+ cytotoxic Tcells (via induction of apoptosis via granzyme- and perforin-dependent pathways) and secretion of regulatory cytokines (e.g. interleukin-10 or interleukin-35), suggests that therapeutic augmentation of Treg responses may be beneficial for in vivo gene therapy (Gernoux, Wilson & Mueller, 2017).

IV. HUMORAL IMMUNE RESPONSES TO AAV

There is a clear role for the innate and cellular arms of the immune system in limiting the efficacy of AAV-based gene transfer strategies. It is now well established that the generation of antibodies against various viral components also represents a significant barrier for AAV gene therapy. This section will review the role of the humoral immune response in terms of pre-existing humoral immunity and the induction of anti-vector antibody responses. Understanding the fundamental biological concepts underpinning the production of antibodies and the mechanisms of neutralising antibodies is key to deriving counterstrategies.

(1) How are antibodies produced?

Antibodies are glycosylated proteins that can be presented on the surface of B-cells [and act as antigen receptors (B-cell receptors)] or secreted by B-cells to bind to and neutralise target proteins. Antibodies are composed of two 'light' and two 'heavy' chains which are linked by disulphide bonds. At the N-terminus on an antibody are the hypervariable regions which determine antigen specificity. Five classes of antibodies have been described (IgM, IgD, IgG, IgA, IgE), each varying according to their respective C-terminal domains, termed Fc regions. Fc regions mediate the effector functions of antibodies, for instance when facilitating antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity by recruiting CD8+ T-cells (Hoffman, Lakkis & Chalasani, 2016).

Immature B-cells originate from the bone marrow in adult humans. They differentiate from haematopoeitic stem cells into pro-B-cells, then pre-B-cells and then immature B-cells. This development follows rearrangement of immunoglobulin heavy and light chains on the cell surface, resulting in expression of an antigen-specific IgM B-cell receptor (Thomas, Srivastava & Allman, 2006). Immature B-cells migrate to the spleen and lymphoid organs where they undergo activation via antigen recognition by the B-cell receptor and helper signals from CD4+ T-cells. Antigen binding to B-cell receptors activates gene expression changes and internalisation of the antigen into an endosome. Antigen proteins are subsequently degraded and presented on the Bcell surface by MHC class II molecules, which facilitates interactions with helper CD4+ T-cells (Victora & Nussenzweig, 2012). Some activated B-cells develop into plasmablasts without entering the B-cell follicles within the spleen. Others return to the follicles where they undergo affinity maturation of antigen-binding sites [via somatic hypermutation (SHM)] and immunoglobulin class switching [via class-switch recombination (CSR)] to generate highaffinity antibody-producing plasma cells and memory B-cells with a diverse set of effector functions. Here, SHM induces point mutations in antigen-binding regions to enable selection of high-affinity clones whilst CSR replaces DNA sequences that dictate isotype classes. The latter permits the generation of antibodies with various effector functions without altering their antigenic specificity. These plasma cells home to the bone marrow and produce antibodies independently of further antigen exposure (Muramatsu *et al.*, 2000; Chaudhuri & Alt, 2004; Shlomchik & Weisel, 2012).

(2) How do antibodies neutralise AAV?

Despite the relevance of pre-existing and induced humoral immunity against AAV, the precise mechanisms by which antibodies neutralise AAV have yet to be elucidated. Here we will summarise the main mechanisms that antibodies utilise to neutralise viral infections.

Antibodies can have a neutralising or binding (non-neutralising) function. A neutralising antibody (NAb) is defined as one that is capable of inhibiting the infectivity or pathogenesis of a virus. Binding, or non-neutralising antibodies, are thought to lack neutralising activity but may be involved in the recruitment of immune cells and the induction of antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity (ADCC) (Schmaljohn, 2013). ADCC involves the binding of antibodies to a target cell (for instance, one that is virally infected) which in turn initiates the lysis of that cell by an effector cell (Hashimoto, Wright & Karzon, 1983). This process can be mediated by NK cells, for example, which recognise the Fc portion of an antibody via cell-surface expression of Fcy receptors such as CD16 (Chen et al., 2018). A comparable process is antibody-dependent cellular phagocytosis (ADCP), in which viral particles, or virally infected cells, are bound by antibodies whose Fc portions are recognised by Fcy on phagocytic cells (Tay, Wiehe & Pollara, 2019). The precise contribution of ADCC and ADCP to the clearance of transduced cells following administration of AAV requires further investigation, however.

Some NAbs can impede a virus by inhibiting its function prior to its binding to a cell. IgA and IgM antibodies can induce aggregation of certain types of bacteria, and some IgG antibodies have exhibited this function in the context of polio virus infections, for example (Brioen, Dekegel & Boeyé, 1983). Other antibodies appear to induce loss-offunction conformational changes in their targets that destabilises their capsid structures. This has been demonstrated with NAb against Sinbis virus (Hernandez, Paredes & Brown, 2008) and human immunodeficiency virus-1 (HIV-1) (Klasse & Sattentau, 2002).

NAbs can also interfere with the attachment of viruses to cells. For example, NAbs can bind to HIV-1 gp120 and thereby prevent the binding of the virus to its cognate receptor, CD4 (Klasse *et al.*, 2012). This mechanism, thought to occur due to steric interference between virus cell-binding ligands and cell surface receptors, has also been shown to apply to flavivirus (He *et al.*, 1995), parvovirus (Booy *et al.*, 1998) and rotavirus (Ruggeri & Greenberg, 1991).

Other NAbs may interfere with enveloped viruses like HIV-1 post-attachment by preventing fusion of viral and endosomal membranes once the virus enters its target cell (de Rosny *et al.*, 2004). Non-enveloped viruses enter cells *via* endocytosis and must 'escape' from endosomes in order to prevent their degradation in lysosomes. Antibodies against polio virus have been shown to destabilise capsid proteins so that the virus cannot escape from the endosome (Wien *et al.*, 1995).

NAbs may also interfere with other essential viral intracellular processes. For instance, some NAbs against human papilloma virus have been shown to prevent trafficking of viral DNA to the nucleus (Ishii *et al.*, 2010). Recently, a novel mechanism of intracellular virus neutralisation was described in which a cytosolic antibody receptor, called Trim21, binds to antibody-coated adenoviruses and facilitates their proteasomal degradation (Mallery *et al.*, 2010).

Clearly, NAbs can utilise a number of mechanisms to neutralise virus infections. However, our understanding of how NAbs interact with AAV is very limited, and only a few studies have investigated this aspect of gene therapy. A correlation between the levels of NAbs and IgG titres has been established (Kruzik et al., 2019), and it appears that IgG1, IgG2, and IgM are the main subtypes that are correlated with anti-AAV NAbs (a similar correlation was not observed with IgG3 and IgG4 in this report) (Murphy et al., 2009). However, it has not yet been characterised which subtype is primarily responsible for neutralising activity against AAV as opposed to binding activity against AAV. One study showed that NAbs are associated with the accumulation of AAV in the lymphoid organs, whilst binding antibodies have been shown to increase transduction of the liver, highlighting the possibility that certain subclasses of antibody may be capable of partially redirecting vector tropism (Fitzpatrick et al., 2018). Further, interactions between humoral immune responses and complement pathways have also been identified. In an in vivo study, mouse models deficient in complement receptor 1/2and complement component 3 demonstrated a delayed antibody response to AAV2 vectors and significantly lower terminal NAb titres compared to wild-type controls (Zaiss et al., 2008). Interactions between Ig subtypes and the cellular immune system have also been observed, with one study highlighting a possible correlation between IgG3 antibody levels and the development of T-cell reactivity against AAV capsid proteins (Mingozzi et al., 2009).

(3) Pre-existing humoral immunity

The prevalence of patient seropositivity (the harbouring of antibodies against an antigen) varies substantially depending upon the particular serotype in question and the geography in which the study was conducted (Calcedo *et al.*, 2009; Boutin *et al.*, 2010). In studies examining people from four continents, the prevalence of NAbs against AAV1/2 ranged from 30 to 60%, which was greater than the 15–30% range observed for AAV7/8/9, and 2% seropositivity for AAV4 (Calcedo *et al.*, 2009). These disparities may reflect the likelihood of wild-type infections by a particular serotype, given that pre-existing humoral immunity, much like pre-existing cellular immunity described above, is thought to arise from asymptomatic wild-type AAV infections throughout a patient's lifetime. Anti-AAV NAbs are also known to be highly cross-reactive, and patients are often observed to

harbour NAbs against most, if not all, AAV serotypes; a finding that may reflect the conservation of epitopes across different AAV serotypes (Calcedo & Wilson, 2013).

In most liver gene transfer studies, AAV serotypes 2 and 8 have been utilised, however, in a recent clinical trial investigating haemophilia B, AAV5 was used. Of the 10 participants included in the trial, none were deemed to have pre-existing NAbs against AAV5, and although some did demonstrate anti-AAV5 IgG and IgM, this had no detectable impact on the efficiency of gene transfer (Miesbach et al., 2018). These findings have been corroborated by reports from Drygalski et al. (2019) who used a highly sensitive luciferase-based NAb assav to identify low anti-AAV5 NAb titres in haemophilia B patients undergoing gene therapy-based FIX replacement. They also showed that these low levels of NAbs had no observable effect on the outcome of gene transfer in these patients. In this way, they were able to identify a new opportunity to include anti-AAV5 NAb seropositive patients in the clinical trial who were previously ineligible (Drygalski et al., 2019).

An alternative route of administration for gene therapybased treatment of haemophilia B involves the injection of AAV vectors into the muscle. In 2003, rAAV vectors were used to deliver a functional copy of the FIX gene into male participants with severe haemophilia B. No evidence of local or systemic toxicity to the vector was observed up to 40 months post-injection, and the presence of antibodies directed against FIX protein were also not detected. In contrast to liver gene transfer studies that would be conducted in subsequent years, the presence of anti-AAV NAbs in these patients did not have an apparent impact on the efficiency of gene transfer to the muscle (Manno *et al.*, 2003).

Another study investigated the possibility of utilising intrathecal injections as a treatment for mucopolysaccharidosis type III. The prevalence of NAbs against AAV2 and AAV9 was assessed in the sera and cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) of healthy volunteers and enrolled patients. In the sera, anti-AAV2 NAbs were detected at a higher level than anti-AAV9 NAbs, and overall levels of both anti-AAV2 and -AAV9 NAbs were higher in the sera than in the CSF. Upon vector administration via intrathecal delivery (which involves injection of a vector-containing solution into the spinal canal such that it reaches the CSF), the presence of these pre-existing NAbs did impact the efficiency of gene transfer, but did block transduction completely (Haurigot not et al., 2013). In a non-human primate study, the detection of pre-existing NAbs at a 1:128 titre did not have any apparent effect on the efficacy of gene transfer when an AAV9.GFP gene therapy was used (Gray et al., 2013). Taken together, these findings highlight the immuneprivileged status of the CNS and demonstrate a role for the BBB in limiting the transfer of NAbs from the systemic circulation into the CSF.

Studies utilising non-human primate models have demonstrated that pre-existing NAbs against AAV may limit the efficiency of transgene expression following an intravitreal injection (IVT). Pre-existing sera NAb titres of 1:10 or greater were found to reduce transgene expression, although some animals with 1:25-1:100 NAb levels still exhibited some degree of retinal transduction (Kotterman et al., 2015). Data emerging from clinical trials, however, have suggested that pre-existing sera NAb titres may not represent a significant barrier to effective transduction of the retina via IVT. In one study, 2/5 patients demonstrated improvements in visual acuity following administration of an AAV-based treatment for LHON, in spite of the fact they harboured sera NAb titres of 1:5120 and 1:20480 at baseline (Feuer et al., 2016). Further, in a follow-up study to this trial, the same investigators showed that, of the 14 patients enrolled in the clinical study, the four that demonstrated the greatest increases in visual acuity also had the highest (1:20480) NAb titres at baseline (Guy et al., 2017). By contrast, a clinical trial investigating AAV2.sFLT1 [soluble FMS-like tyrosine kinase-1, an anti-vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) agent] IVT gene therapy for neovascular age-related macular degeneration (nAMD) showed that pre-existing NAb titres of 1:400 appeared sufficient to preclude effective vector administration and transduction of the retina. sFLT1 protein expression was also blocked in patients with 1:3200 NAb titres but no evidence of vector neutralisation was seen in the patient with a baseline titre of 1:100 (Heier et al., 2017).

In summary, the role of pre-existing NAbs in limiting the efficiency of gene transfer appears to vary according to the route of administration and choice of AAV serotype. Broadly, systemic intravenous injections appear to be more susceptible to NAbs, whilst administration to immune-privileged sites such as the CNS may result in efficient gene transfer even in the presence of low titres of NAbs. Whether the administration of AAV to a patient with pre-existing NAbs may be more risky than a seronegative patient is an open question. However, it is possible that the former route may involve injection to a 'primed' immune system which could induce a significant immune response. By contrast, injection into seropositive individuals may simply result in rapid neutralisation of viral particles, circumventing any cellular transduction and concomitant immune responses. Pre-screening trial participants for NAbs using serum neutralisation assays prior to administration to immune-privileged sites is a key factor in ensuring efficient gene transfer, however, greater standardisation of these assays may be required to establish threshold NAb levels at which administration of AAV can be successful in seropositive individuals (Meliani et al., 2015).

(4) Induction of anti-AAV humoral immune responses

Pre-existing antibodies to AAV represent a key barrier to successful gene transfer in seropositive individuals. A related issue is whether the administration of AAV induces a robust NAb response that precludes re-administration of a gene therapy. The importance of repeated gene transfer varies according

to the route of administration and target organ, however, in our view, the ability to re-administer a gene therapy is a clinically relevant consideration for most, if not all, in vivo gene therapy programmes. Administration to young adults suffering from haemophilia, for example, is faced with the problem that the liver is a dividing tissue, leading to dilution of transgene expression over time. Further, as discussed above, CD8+ Tcell responses may clear transduced cells from target organs, especially after systemic or intramuscular delivery, again leading to reduced transgene expression over time. In addition, whilst many gene therapy programs are targeting monogenic recessive disorders, there is an increasing interest in developing AAV constructs for diseases exhibiting complex aetiologies. In these diseases, multiple pathogenic pathways are involved which may require sequential administration of different gene therapies. There is also the possibility that an initial gene therapy injection is sufficient to induce a robust NAb response but insufficient to rescue a clinical phenotype. Lastly, it is possible that methylation of viral promoter sequences may occur years after AAV administration, which may lead to transgenic silencing. In these scenarios, a repeat injection of AAV could be used to circumvent reduced therapeutic transgene expression and maximise clinical benefit. Therefore, a discussion of the possibility of NAb induction and possible strategies to circumvent these responses is warranted. In this section, we will briefly summarise NAb responses following administration of AAV to the liver, skeletal muscle and CNS. We then provide a detailed analysis of NAb induction observed in ocular gene therapy trials.

(a) Gene therapy trials targeting the liver and skeletal muscle

A number of clinical studies have reported increased anti-AAV NAb levels after vector administration to target the liver and skeletal muscle. In summary, these reports suggest that these two routes of administration lead to elevated NAb titres, which, in some cases, were observed up to 52 weeks after vector infusion. Further, the utilisation of immunosuppression in two of the trials discussed below did not appear to be sufficient to abrogate anti-capsid NAb responses. Given the role that pre-existing NAbs may play in limiting the effectiveness of gene transfer, we suggest the induction of NAbs in these trials may represent a possible barrier to vector re-administration in these individuals, which may limit the clinical utility of gene therapy. A summary of humoral immune responses in clinical trials targeting the liver and skeletal muscle for human gene therapy is provided in Table 1.

(b) Gene therapy trials targeting the central nervous system

Unlike studies investigating liver and skeletal muscle gene therapies, clinical trials administering AAV to the CNS have not reported the induction of NAbs. However, the results of non-human primate and dog studies investigating the induction of NAbs following delivery to the CNS indicate possible differences to other modes of administration. Principally,

Reference	Disease	Therapy	Delivery	IS	Number of patients with increased NAbs
Manno et al. (2006)	Haemophilia B	AAV2.FIX	Intravenous	None	7/7
Nathwani et al. (2011)	Haemophilia B	scAAV2/8.FIX	Intravenous	None	6/6
Manno et al. (2003)	Haemophilia B	AAV2.FIX	Intramuscular	None	8/8
Brantly <i>et al.</i> (2006)	AAT deficiency	AAV2.AAT	Intramuscular	n/a	12/12
Brantly et al. (2009)	AAT deficiency	AAV1.AAT	Intramuscular	n/a	12/12
Flotte <i>et al.</i> (2011)	AAT deficiency	AAV1.AAT	Intramuscular	n/a	9/9
Stroes et al. (2008)	LPL deficiency	AAV2.LPL(S447X)	Intramuscular	None	8/8
Gaudet et al. (2013)	LPL deficiency	AAV2.LPL(S447X)	Intramuscular	CyA, MMF	14/14
Ferreira et al. (2014)	LPL deficiency	AAV2.LPL(S447X)	Intramuscular	CyA, MMF, Pred	5/5

Table 1. Summary of humoral immune responses in clinical trials targeting the liver and skeletal muscle for human gene therapy

AAV, adeno-associated virus; scAAV, self-complemetary AAV; FIX, factor 9; AAT, α 1-antitrypsin; LPL (S447X), low density lipoprotein variant harbouring single point mutation; IS, immunosuppression; CyA, cyclosporin A (T-cell inhibitor); MMF, mycophenolate mofetil (T- and B-cell inhibitor); Pred, prednisolone (steroid immunosuppressant); NAb, neutralising antibody.

pre-existing sera NAb titres appear to have less impact in neutralising vector administration, likely due to the impermeability of the BBB, however AAV injection to the CNS may still result in increased NAb titres.

Gene delivery to the CNS can be achieved via systemic vector delivery provided an appropriate AAV serotype (Vandenberghe, 2019) [or mutated AAV capsid (Hordeaux et al., 2018; Hudry et al., 2018)] is used. As outlined above, the potential of gene transfer for treating diseases affecting the CNS has been demonstrated in the context of SMA, and an FDA-approved therapy (Zolgensma) now exists for the condition which uses AAV9 expressing survival motor neuron-1 (SMN-1). The earliest clinical trials investigating SMA gene therapy via systemic delivery did not report the induction of antibodies against either the AAV9 capsid protein or the SMN-1 transgene (Mendell et al., 2017; Al-Zaidy et al., 2019; Lowes et al., 2019). Similarly, a study conducted in non-human primates and piglets did not report the development of humoral immune responses against capsid proteins or transgene products, in spite of the observation of severe toxicity following high-dose intravenous administration of an AAV9 variant, AAVhu68, carrying the SMN-1 transgene (Hinderer et al., 2018).

An alternative route of delivery to the CNS is intrathecal delivery. A study investigating intrathecal delivery of AAV9 as a possible treatment for mucopolysaccharidosis type III showed that vector administration induced a robust systemic humoral immune response against AAV9 capsids, despite all dogs demonstrating undetectable levels of anti-AAV9 NAbs at baseline. Eight days after vector administration, NAb titres were greater than 1:1000. Interesting correlations between systemic and corresponding CSF NAb titres were also observed and appeared to be dependent upon the presence of inflammation in the CSF. In the absence of inflammation, CSF samples were negative or had NAb titres of <1:10, however, in dogs exhibiting signs of inflammation in the CNS, NAb titres of 1:100– 1:1000 were seen, suggesting that the presence of inflammation may compromise the integrity of the BBB (Haurigot *et al.*, 2013).

Injections can also be performed directly into the brain in order to transfer genes to the CNS. One non-human primate study examined injections of AAV9 expressing acid sphingomyelinase (ASM) into the cerebromedullary (CM) space of a Niemann-Pick disease type A model (a lysosomal storage disease). Slight increases in anti-AAV9 NAb levels were seen in both the sera (1:400–1:800) and CSF (1:100–1:200) at 1 and 3 month timepoints respectively, in response to vector administration (Samaranch *et al.*, 2019).

(c) Gene therapy trials targeting the eye

The eve has been at the forefront of gene therapy research for a number of reasons. First, its compartmentalised nature and tightly regulated transport of molecules across the blood-retinal-barrier (BRB) reduces the risk of vector leaking into the systemic circulation, thereby mitigating a significant regulatory/safety concern (Cunha-Vaz, Bernardes & Lobo, 2011). Second, the eve is relatively accessible for vector administration, and several well-characterised routes of delivery, such as IVTs and subretinal injections (SRTs) are available for ophthalmologists. Third, a number of non-invasive tools can be used to assess clinical endpoints for a particular therapy, such as electroretinography (ERG) and optical coherence tomography (OCT). Anatomically, the eye is also smaller than other organs, such as the brain, which obviates the need for high vector doses to achieve robust transduction of target cell types. Lastly, the eye is generally considered to have an 'immune-privileged' status and generally exhibits lower immune responses than other organs. As mentioned, this is in part is due to the impermeability of the BRB to humoral and cellular arms of the immune system which has been shown to limit access of circulating anti-capsid antibodies into the eye (Amado et al., 2010). The phenomenon may also be accounted for by a process called anterior chamber-associated immune deviation (ACAID). During ACAID, immunogenic antigens

Reference	Disease	Therapy	Delivery	Number of patients	IS	Increased NAbs detected
Bainbridge et al. (2008)	LCA2	AAV2.hRPE65	SRT	3	Oral prednisolone	0
Bainbridge et al. (2015)	LCA2	AAV2.hRPE65	SRT	12	Oral prednisolone	6
Hauswirth et al. (2008)	LCA2	AAV2.hRPE65	SRT	3	n/a	1
Jacobson et al. (2012)	LCA2	AAV2.hRPE65	SRT	14	Topical steroids	6
Maguire <i>et al.</i> (2008)	LCA2	AAV2.hRPE65v2	SRT	3	Oral prednisolone	1
Maguire et al. (2009)	LCA2	AAV2.hRPE65v2	SRT	12	Oral prednisolone	2
Bennett et al. (2012)	LCA2	AAV2.hRPE65v2	SRT*	3	Oral prednisolone	0
Le Meur et al. (2018)	LCA2	AAV4.RPE65	SRT	9	Oral prednisolone	2
Ghazi et al. (2016)	RP	AAV2.hMERTK	SRT	6	None	2
Rakoczy et al. (2015)	nAMD	AAV2.sFLT1	SRT	9	Topical steroids	2
Constable <i>et al.</i> (2016)	nAMD	AAV2.sFLT1	SRT	21	Topical steroids	3**
Wan et al. (2016)	LHON	AAV2.ND4	IVT	9	Oral prednisolone	0
Feuer <i>et al.</i> (2016)	LHON	AAV2.P1ND4v2	IVT	5	None	1
Guy et al. (2017)	LHON	AAV2.P1ND4v2	IVT	14	None	2
Bouquet <i>et al.</i> (2019)	LHON	AAV2.ND4	IVT	15	None	14
Heier et al. (2017)	nAMD	AAV2.sFLT1	IVT	19	None	7

Table 2. Summary of humoral immune responses in clinical trials utilising SRT and IVT for human gene therapy

AAV, adeno-associated virus; LCA2, Leber's congenital amaurosis type II; RP, retinitis pigmentosa; nAMD, neovascular age-related mac-ular degeneration; LHON, Leber's hereditary optic neuropathy; RPE65, retinal pigment epithelium-65; RPE65v2, retinal pigment epithelium-65 with enhanced Kozak sequence; MERTK, c-Mer protooncogene tyrosine kinase; sFLT1, soluble FMS-like tyrosine kinase; ND4, NADH dehydrogenase subunit 4; P1ND4v2, NADH dehydrogenase subunit 4 containing mitochondrial targeting sequence; SRT, subretinal injection; IVT, intravitreal injection; IS, immunosuppression; NAb, neutralising antibody. *Participants received an SRT of AAV2 into the contralateral eye. **In this study, 3/9 patients seroconverted after receiving IVT of AAV2 (for the remaining 12 patients, NAb titres were not reported).

induce a tolerogenic immune response that involves regulatory T-cell and anti-inflammatory M2 macrophage induction, and increases synthesis of anti-inflammatory cytokines (Taylor, 2009; Zhou & Caspi, 2010; Keino, Horie & Sugita, 2018; Martínez-Alcantar et al., 2019). An overview of the clinical studies reporting NAb titres for SRT and IVT gene therapies is provided in Table 2.

(i) Gene delivery to the outer retina by subretinal injection. A gene therapy for LCA2 was approved by the FDA in 2018. Efforts to develop an AAV-based gene therapy for LCA2 have helped to improve our understanding of AAV vector immunobiology when delivered into the subretinal space. These studies showed that the immune-privileged status of the eye, and the relatively non-immunogenic properties of AAV as a vector did not necessarily circumvent immune responses to vector administration.

Initial testing of humoral immune responses in C57BL/6 mouse models showed that a significant systemic antibody response against AAV capsid proteins could be induced by SRT. It was also found however, that the induction of systemic humoral immunity did not preclude vector re-administration into the ipsilateral eye (Anand et al., 2000). The authors later characterised a deviant immune response upon SRT of AAV two years later, and highlighted similarities to ACAID. Here, the generation of a population of immunosuppressive Th2-type T-cells was reported post-SRT and they were identified as potential mediators of the immune deviation mechanism observed (Anand et al., 2002). These data contrast with later reports which demonstrated SRT of AAV2 did not result in a detectable increase in NAb levels. This may reflect the discrepancy in AAV serotypes used by the two investigators, however (Li et al., 2008).

In 2008, the first report of AAV2.hRPE65.hRPE65 (using an RPE65 promoter) gene delivery to the subretinal space as therapy for LCA2 was published, however, only three patients were included in this study. None of the enrolled patients developed humoral immunity against AAV2 following vector administration, and sera NAb titres were either undetectable or <1:7 at baseline throughout the 12-month follow-up period (Bainbridge et al., 2008).

A later report (Bainbridge et al., 2015) examined the longterm safety of AAV2.hRPE65.hRPE65 gene therapy for LCA2, and provided evidence that intraocular inflammation and immune responses occurred when higher doses of vector were used. The study also highlighted a potential humoral immune response against AAV2. In 4/4 of patients receiving low-dose AAV2, circulating NAb titres increased throughout the 3-year follow-up period. In the high-dose group, four patients showed no changes in NAb levels throughout the study period. In the other two patients, however, vector administration apparently induced a humoral immune response. In both of these study participants, an asymptomatic episode of posterior intraocular inflammation was correlated with NAb titre increases. Throughout the study however, no anti-RPE65 transgene NAbs were detected. Crucially, this clinical trial demonstrated that humoral immune responses could be induced against AAV2 capsids even when a prophylactic oral glucocorticoid immunosuppressive drug regimen was given to patients before and after vector administration (Bainbridge et al., 2015).

Other studies investigating SRT delivery of AAV2.CB. hRPE65 (chicken β -actin promoter) for LCA2 gene therapy have reported similar results. In a phase I trial, humoral immune responses were measured at baseline, and at days 14 and 90. Whilst 2/3 patients did not demonstrate an anti-vector NAb response, one patient exhibited a 7.5-fold increase in their 90-day antibody titre compared to baseline levels, however, this did not correlate with AAV2 capsidspecific reactivity of peripheral lymphocytes in which no changes were observed in any patients between baseline and days 14 or 90. In this study, anti-transgene NAb induction was not reported (Hauswirth *et al.*, 2008).

In a long-term assessment of the safety and efficacy of AAV2.CB.hRPE65, humoral immune responses were measured throughout a three-year follow-up period. 8/14 patients enrolled in the study actually demonstrated a decline in anti-AAV2 NAb titres throughout the study, whilst 6/14 demonstrated increases in NAb titres compared with baseline. Across all cohorts tested, no apparent correlation between AAV2 dosages and anti-AAV2 antibody titres was evident (Jacobson *et al.*, 2012). Interestingly, in the studies of Hauswirth *et al.* (2008) and Jacobson *et al.* (2012), no patients were given prophylactic glucocorticoid immunosuppressants, and this did not have an apparent effect on the induction of humoral immunity when compared to the patients in Bainbridge *et al.* (2008, 2015).

In a phase I trial published in 2008, AAV2.CB.hRPE65v2 [voretigene neparvovec (Luxturna)] SRT administration was found to induce an anti-AAV2 NAb response in 1/3 patients enrolled in the study. The levels of this patient's NAbs were elevated after 14 days, and did decrease by 30 days post-SRT but remained high compared to baseline. No evidence of anti-RPE65 NAbs were observed (Maguire *et al.*, 2008).

The safety and efficacy of AAV2.CB.hRPE65v2 was then further investigated in a phase I dose escalation trial which introduced middle- and high-dose cohorts. In the middledose cohorts, 4/6 patients did not exhibit signs of an anti-AAV2 humoral immune response. In 2/6 patients however, significant increases in NAb levels were evident versus baseline values. Perhaps unexpectedly, in the high-dose cohort, no evidence of a humoral immune response was detected in any of the three patients. It should be noted however, that the two patients from the middle-dose cohort who exhibited the greatest increases in NAb levels also had the highest NAb levels at baseline. Therefore, it is possible that these patients had some pre-existing immunity to AAV2 that was sufficient to induce a humoral immune response upon vector administration but not sufficient to be excluded from the trial (Maguire et al., 2009).

The investigators then tested whether re-administration of AAV2.CB.hRPE65v2 resulted in increased sera NAb levels. Of the three patients included in this follow-on trial, baseline NAb levels were 1:1–1:3.16 and remained at these low levels in spite of vector administration into the contralateral eye (Bennett *et al.*, 2012). Notably, in all studies examining AAV2.CB.hRPE65v2, systemic corticosteroid immunosuppressive treatment was given to patients to mitigate the

occurrence and severity of vector-mediated immune responses.

The majority of studies investigating gene therapy for LCA2 have utilised AAV2 for the delivery of therapeutic transgenes. One study has utilised the AAV4 serotype, however. Of the nine patients enrolled in this study, six did not exhibit detectable anti-AAV4 IgG at baseline or after vector administration. In two patients, a significant increase in anti-AAV4 IgG and NAb levels were seen. In one patient, a NAb titre of 1:50 was seen at baseline, but remained unchanged at 1:50 until 180 days follow-up, indicating that a humoral immune response was not induced by AAV4 SRT. In this study, prednisolone gluco-corticoids were administered daily 1 week before and after the SRT of AAV4 prophylactically to inhibit immune reactions to the vector (Le Meur *et al.*, 2018).

Outside of LCA2, SRT of AAV vectors has been investigated for possible therapeutic effects in other genetic eye disorders like retinitis pigmentosa. More recently, the platform has also been applied to diseases with complex etiologies like nAMD.

Mutations in MER proto-oncogene tyrosine kinase (MERTK) cause retinitis pigmentosa. MERTK aberrations disrupt phagocytic activity of RPE cells, which in turn causes degeneration of rod and cone photoreceptors. AAV2 has been used to deliver functional MERTK genes into RPE cells *via* SRT. In a phase I study, 3/6 patients demonstrated improvements in visual acuity and all patients exhibited acceptable safety profiles. In 2/6 patients, anti-AAV2 humoral immune responses were also recorded and 10–26-fold increases in NAb titres were observed. However, no data were reported for these patients' NAb titres after one year of follow-up (Ghazi *et al.*, 2016).

The first reports of SRT gene therapy being used to treat nAMD in patients were published in 2015. In this phase I study, nine patients were enrolled and administered rAAV2.sFLT1 via SRT. The therapy was shown to reduce the requirement for 'rescue' injections of intravitreal anti-VEGF agents (Ranibizumab), whilst no drugrelated adverse events were reported. Total anti-AAV2 and neutralising AAV2 antibodies were reported between baseline and one-year follow-up in six of the patients enrolled. In 4/6 patients, NAb titres remained unchanged at <1:20 throughout the study. In two patients, however, a robust humoral immune response was evident, these subject's NAb titres were <1:20 at baseline and increased to 1:20–1:100 at the 3-week timepoint (Rakoczy et al., 2015).

Further testing of this gene therapy in a phase IIa study corroborated previous findings. Of the 21 patients studied, nine displayed no anti-AAV2 NAbs at baseline, whilst 12 had titres between 1:20 and 1:100. In 3/9 patients with no detectable NAbs at baseline, anti-AAV2 NAbs were observed at completion of the study. In this publication however, data on NAb levels were not included, rendering further analysis challenging (Constable *et al.*, 2016).

(ii) Gene delivery to the inner retina by intravitreal injection. Compared to SRT, IVT is a much simpler route

of delivery for AAV-based gene therapies. IVTs can be performed in an ophthalmologist's office in a matter of minutes, and only requires topical analgesics for the injection. IVTs are also necessary to target inner retinal cells, principally RGCs. Recently, evidence has emerged suggesting that specific AAV serotypes can target the outer retina/photoreceptor layer via IVT. This has increased interest in this delivery route for treating common blinding disorders like nAMD and diabetic retinopathy (Dalkara et al., 2013; Grishanin et al., 2019). A number of preclinical and clinical studies utilising IVTs of AAV gene therapies have now been completed. These have highlighted similarities and differences between IVT and SRT in terms of the induction of humoral immunity against AAV capsid proteins.

One of the earliest reports contrasting the induction of NAbs following SRT and IVT of AAV2 was published in 2008 (Li et al., 2008). In a rodent model, it was shown that unilateral SRT did not trigger a humoral immune response against AAV2 capsid proteins. As a result, subsequent administration of AAV2 into the contralateral eye was permissible when delivered by SRT and IVT, a finding that supported clinical studies investigating SRTs and contralateral eye administration (Bennett et al., 2012). When an initial injection of AAV2 was delivered via IVT however, the induction of humoral immunity was evident. The authors reported up to tenfold increases in total anti-AAV2 antibodies following IVT, a finding that correlated with the levels of NAbs against AAV2 capsids. Upon re-administration of AAV2 to the contralateral eye, the authors found that SRT delivery resulted in robust transduction of the outer retina, however, they observed diminished expression if the IVT delivery route was used for vector re-administration (Li et al., 2008). Their findings therefore highlighted possible differences between the immune mechanisms employed by the vitreous cavity versus the subretinal space, however, it should be noted that their observation that SRT did not result in a humoral immune response is in partial disagreement with some clinical (Hauswirth et al., 2008; Jacobson et al., 2012; Bainbridge et al., 2015) and preclinical studies (Anand et al., 2000, 2002).

In non-human primate studies, further evidence has arisen that IVT may induce stronger NAb responses than SRT. Kotterman et al. (2015) published data relating to the induction of anti-AAV NAbs following IVT of multiple serotypes and mutagenised capsid protein AAV variants, and their analysis showed that IVT of all AAV variants caused a NAb response. They tested AAV2, AAV5, AAV9, AAV7m8 (peptide-insert mutant AAV) and AAV2 (Y-F tyrosine mutant AAV2), all of which were found to elevate NAb levels from 1:1-1:100 at baseline to 1:100-10000 after the injection. In some of the non-human primates, NAb levels were assessed over a period of 7 months. All injected animals demonstrated consistent NAb levels in the first 3 months following IVT, but some showed a 2-5-fold decline after 3 months. In general however, the persistence of elevated NAb titres for long periods after gene therapy administration was observed. The authors also reported cross-reactivity of NAbs generated against multiple AAV serotypes. Here,

1627

AAV2 NAb levels, and IVTs of AAV2, AAV7m8 and AAV2(Y-F) induced anti-AAV5, -AAV8 or -AAV9 humoral immune responses. The authors also noted an interesting but non-significant trend in which higher pre-injection NAb titres correlated with a smaller change between pre- and post-injection titres. It was postulated that this may be due to higher rates of vector neutralisation which attenuated retinal transduction and antigen presentation to the immune system (Kotterman et al., 2015).

In a comparable non-human primate study, IVT and SRT of AAV capsid mutant variants AAV7m8 and AAV8BP2 (9mer peptide insert into AAV8 capsid) were found to induce humoral immune responses. Following IVT, AAV8BP2 and AAV7m8 increased sera NAb titres in non-human primate models post-IVT. These increases appeared to be slightly lower than that observed by Kotterman et al. (2015), however, this discrepancy may be explained by a multitude of confounding variables, such the different timepoints used in the study, difficulties in accurately titering AAV preparations (rendering comparison between studies challenging) and of course the use of different AAV serotypes/mutant capsids. This study also compared sera NAb titres to vitreous NAb titres. After IVT of AAV8BP2, postinjection vitreous NAb titres remained unchanged at <1:3.16 in all animals. Following AAV7m8 IVT however, vitreous NAb levels rose in 2/6 non-human primates. Interestingly, this study also reported increases in NAb levels following SRT in some animals (1/3 after AAV8BP2 SRT and 4/4 after AAV7m8 SRT), a finding that reflects certain preclinical and clinical results (Anand et al., 2000, 2002; Hauswirth et al., 2008; Jacobson et al., 2012; Bainbridge et al., 2015) but disagrees with the results of investigations utilising mouse models (Li et al., 2008).

Reports detailing the induction of humoral immunity in clinical trials following IVT of AAV-based gene therapies arose sometime after those utilising the SRT route of administration. In 2016, one study described the use of AAV2 expressing mitochondrial reduced nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NADH) dehvdrogenase subunit 4 (ND4) as a possible treatment for LHON. Patients enrolled in this clinical trial were given oral prednisolone for 1 week prior to and 8 weeks after the administration of the therapy. At baseline and 6 months post-IVT, NAb titres in all nine patients remained unchanged and at levels below 1:20, however, it should be noted that no improvements in visual acuity were observed in this study (Wan et al., 2016).

In the same year, data from another clinical trial investigating LHON gene therapy were published. In this study however, a self-complementary AAV2 (scAAV2; contains dsDNA genome) harbouring tyrosine to phenylalanine substitutions and an ND4 gene expression cassette (AAV2. CBA.P1ND4v2) was utilised, and no immunosuppressants were given to the five patients. Only one patient experienced an increase in NAb levels after 7 days, which then decreased back to baseline levels after 90 days follow-up. It should be noted however, that the other four patients enrolled exhibited very high (1:5120–1:20480) NAb levels at baseline, but this did not appear to inhibit transduction efficiency/ therapeutic efficacy (Feuer *et al.*, 2016). In a follow-up to these initial results, similar data were reported that corroborated the previous findings (Guy *et al.*, 2017). In accordance with other studies investigating SRT of AAV gene therapies (Hauswirth *et al.*, 2008; Jacobson *et al.*, 2012; Bainbridge *et al.*, 2015), there was no obvious correlation between baseline NAb titres and the induction of a humoral antibody response. Another comparison between this study and data from SRT investigations is that the observation of a significant humoral immune response correlated with an episode of anterior uveitis, a finding similar to that reported by Bainbridge *et al.* (2015).

Induction of humoral immune responses in a subset of patients administered with AAV2 gene therapies in the absence of prophylactic immunosuppressants has also been shown in a phase I/II study investigating the use of AAV2. ND4 in LHON patients. In this trial, 13/15 patients exhibited episodes of anterior uveitis and vitritis, two of which were administered immunosuppressants to counteract this ocular inflammation. The authors also concluded that there was no observable correlation between the ocular inflammation score (OIS) and the vector dose administered. They also reported no apparent association between the humoral immune response and vector dose, nor the humoral immune response and OISs. Most patients did demonstrate an increase in their NAb titres after AAV2 IVT, however. 3/3 patients receiving the lowest dose (9E9 vector genomes/eye) and 3/3 patients receiving 3E10 vector genomes/eye showed increases in NAb titre levels from baseline which largely persisted throughout the 96-week follow-up period. In patients who received 9E10 viral genomes/eve, however, the results were less clear, and whilst a transient increase in NAb titres was observed in 5/6 patients, these resolved back to baseline levels in two cases, but persisted until week 96 in the remaining three cases. Finally, in patients who received 1.8E11 viral genomes/eye, 3/3 showed elevated NAb titres shortly after receiving an IVT of AAV2.ND4. Overall, this study provided evidence that AAV2 IVTs may induce NAb responses, however, it should be emphasised that these patients did not receive prophylactic immunosuppressant therapy (Bouquet et al., 2019). Here, more research is required to understand whether glucocorticoid therapy is able to circumvent the induction of humoral immunity in patients receiving IVTs of AAV2 and what the importance of this finding may be, for instance, in enabling readministration of the vector to the ipsilateral or contralateral eye.

Whilst clinical studies utilising AAV2 IVT have mostly targeted genetic diseases, the approach has also been used to target nAMD. AAV2.sFLT1 (delivered by IVT) was studied in 19 patients, and 6/19 demonstrated substantial reductions in retinal oedema and improvements in vision. There was some evidence of the induction of humoral immunity against AAV2, however, this was not associated with the vector dose administered. 6/6 patients in the low-dose groups (2E8-2E9 vector genomes/eye) showed no detectable increase in NAb levels. In patients who received 6E9 vector genomes/eye, 2/3 demonstrated anti-AAV2 NAb responses. For patients in the first 2E10 cohort, 3/3 exhibited increased NAb titres throughout the one-year investigation period. In the other cohort of patients receiving the highest dose of AAV2.sFLT1 (2E10 vector genomes/eye) 2/7 demonstrated increases in NAb titres. The utilisation of prophylactic immunosuppressants was not reported in this study, however, topical steroids were used to treat episodes of pyrexia and intraocular inflammation in two patients in the high-dose cohort (Heier *et al.*, 2017).

(iii) Is the eye immune-privileged with respect to AAV gene therapies?. Despite the assumption that the eve is a relatively immune-privileged environment and therefore favourable for testing gene therapies, the above discussion highlights a number of key findings suggesting that humoral immunity to AAV, either pre-existing via wild-type infection or induced by vector administration, may represent a significant hurdle for successful gene transfer to the inner and outer retina. The number of patients enrolled in the clinical trials described above is limited, reflecting the small patient populations for their respective indications. However, in our view, a number of trends may be evident in the data. These patterns highlight unanswered questions in the field and identify possible research questions for the future. A summary of a possible role of humoral immunity in response to ocular gene therapies is summarised in Fig. 1.

- Only a subset of patients demonstrate increases in anti-AAV NAb levels after vector administration via SRT (Bainbridge et al., 2015; Constable et al., 2016) or IVT (Heier et al., 2017; Bouquet et al., 2019). Some of these patients exhibit very low/undetectable NAb titres at baseline, others had high NAb titres, yet evidence of the induction of humoral immunity to AAV was occasionally observed in both cases post-injection. One possible explanation is that patients that are seronegative at baseline may harbour AAV reactive T-cells (Mingozzi et al., 2007; Veron et al., 2012) which facilitate a strong humoral immune response upon vector administration.
- (2) One trend is that the significant increases in NAb levels observed in some patients appear to correlate with episodes of intraocular inflammation. A number of studies investigating SRT (Bainbridge et al., 2015) and IVT (Guy et al., 2017; Heier et al., 2017; Bouquet et al., 2019) have shown that the onset of events such as vitritis and anterior uveitis was seen in patients who exhibited the greatest changes in their NAb titres between baseline and the weeks/months following vector administration. It should also be noted that some of the patients who developed intraocular inflammation had very low/undetectable NAbs at baseline. More research is required to understand why this subset of patients



Fig 1. The humoral immune response in relation to ocular gene therapy. Our review suggests that a subset of patients develop anti-AAV NAbs after SRT or IVT of AAV, however, it is not clear whether this can be circumvented *via* administration of perioperative systemic steroids. Further studies are needed to determine whether the induction of anti-AAV NAbs affects re-administration into the eye by IVT/SRT or into other organs. In addition, the precise mechanisms utilised by AAV NAbs remain unknown, and more research is needed to elucidate the basis of their neutralising activity. AAV, adeno-associated virus; APC, antigen presenting cell; BP, bipolar cell; CSR, class switch recombination; GCL, ganglion cell layer; IVT, intravitreal injection; MHC, major histocompatibility complex; NAb, neutralising antibody; PC, plasma cell; PR, photoreceptor; RPE, retinal pigment epithelium; SHM, somatic hypermutation; SRT, subretinal injection.

developed much stronger NAb responses compared to other participants. Further, patients who developed high NAb titres and intraocular inflammation may be at increased risk of CD8+ T-cell infiltration into the retina and the clearance of transduced cells over time, which may eventually lead to the loss of therapeutic efficacy. We suggest that patients who develop intraocular inflammation are closely monitored for signs of diminished transgene expression. In this regard, considering the apparent failure of AAV reactive T-cells to recirculate in peripheral blood (Vandamme *et al.*, 2017) (rendering their *ex vivo* analysis *via* blood sampling/ELISPOT assay challenging), episodes of intraocular inflammation could serve as a surrogate biomarker for patients most at risk of deleterious CD8+ T-cell infiltration into the retina.

(3) There is no apparent correlation between baseline NAb titres and the magnitude of increase in NAb titre observed after vector administration. Of the patients that did exhibit significant increases in NAb levels after SRT (Bainbridge *et al.*, 2015; Rakoczy *et al.*, 2015; Constable *et al.*, 2016) and IVT (Guy *et al.*, 2017; Heier *et al.*, 2017; Bouquet *et al.*, 2019), high and low/undetectable baseline NAb titres were observed. This evidence may discount a possible theory that high baseline NAb levels lead to rapid neutralisation of vectors upon injection, which in turn precludes the presentation of their capsid proteins to the immune system (Kotterman *et al.*, 2015). It also suggests that a 'primed' immune system (i.e. one harbouring NAbs/B-cell epitopes against AAV) may not necessarily lead to stronger NAb responses compared to a patient who has no detectable NAbs at baseline.

- (4) It is unclear whether AAV administration via SRT or IVT induces NAb responses in a dose-dependent manner, which may simply reflect the small sample sizes used in these studies. However, it is notable that two studies (Maguire et al., 2009; Bennett et al., 2012) investigating SRT of AAV2 found no evidence of a dose-response effect. Further, in studies using IVT for vector delivery, one reported higher frequencies of elevated NAb titres in the low-dose group than the medium-dose group (Guy et al., 2017), and another detected NAb responses in both low- and high-dose groups (Bouquet et al., 2019). In the largest study reported in the literature, no NAb response was reported in the low-dose group, but equivalent increases in NAb levels were seen in the medium- and high-dose groups (Heier et al., 2017). One possible explanation is that delivery of AAV above a certain threshold is sufficient to induce NAb production, but this might not be further enhanced by administration of additional capsid antigens.
- (5) The administration of perioperative steroids may not be sufficient to attenuate production of anti-AAV NAbs. Of the 16 clinical studies highlighted herein, seven reported the use of oral prednisolone glucocorticoid steroids prophylactically to treat the immunological complications of AAV gene transfer. Of these seven however, four reported increased NAb levels in some of the patients enrolled, suggesting that steroid therapy may not have been sufficient in circumventing humoral immunity in these individuals (Maguire *et al.*, 2008, 2009; Bainbridge *et al.*, 2015; Le Meur *et al.*, 2018).
- (6) Further research is required to understand how the induction of anti-AAV NAbs may affect vector readministration in ocular gene therapy trials, especially for the IVT route of delivery. Some of the studies discussed showed that high NAb titres can persist for years after delivery of AAV via SRT and IVT in a subset of patients (Jacobson et al., 2012; Bainbridge et al., 2015; Heier et al., 2017; Bouquet et al., 2019), and whilst most studies suggest that high pre-existing sera NAb levels limit the efficiency of gene transfer to the retina (Kotterman et al., 2015; Heier et al., 2017), others showed that patients with high NAb titres at baseline actually demonstrated the greatest therapeutic response to the gene therapy (Guy et al., 2017). In this regard, one possible line of investigation could be to determine the effect that IVT or SRT AAV administration has on vector re-administration via other

routes, e.g. intravenous infusion for liver indications. In the future, this may be pertinent to patients who exhibit multiple morbidities affecting different organs and require several gene therapy treatments.

V. POSSIBLE STRATEGIES TO CIRCUMVENT HUMORAL IMMUNITY TO AAV

As discussed above, an increasing body of evidence implicates a deleterious role for pre-existing and induced NAbs in the context of retinal gene therapy. Further, it is unclear whether oral prednisolone is effective at inhibiting NAb responses. This suggests that the development of strategies to circumvent humoral immunity to AAV will likely be helpful in improving the outcomes of ocular gene therapy trials. In this section we review a number of possible strategies that may be applicable to this problem.

(1) Overcoming pre-existing AAV NAbs

As outlined above, pre-existing NAbs against AAV represent a major hurdle to the successful application of gene transfer technologies, and may even have a detrimental effect in immune-privileged sites like the CNS and retina. To overcome this problem, a number of approaches have been reported, including modifications to the vectors and the clinical procedures. These are summarised in Table 3.

(a) Altering the route of administration

This strategy may be applied to some gene therapies targeting certain organs/tissues. For instance, we have discussed how intramuscular (Manno et al., 2003) and intravenous (Miesbach et al., 2018) injections of AAV can be used to treat haemophilia B. Data from one study would suggest that injections into the muscle are less susceptible to the presence of pre-existing NAbs than intravenous infusions, highlighting a possible strategy to administer AAV to haemophilia B patients who would normally be excluded from clinical trials (Manno et al., 2003). Similarly, intrathecal delivery of AAV to the CSF has been shown partially to circumvent pre-existing anti-AAV9 NAbs (Haurigot et al., 2013), suggesting this mode of administration may be preferable to systemic administration of AAV9 for delivering genes to the CNS (Jackson, Dayton & Klein, 2015). However, it should be noted that altering the route of administration may attenuate effective transduction and therapeutic efficacy in a target organ.

(b) Use of alternative AAV vectors

In spite of the high rates of cross-reactivity exhibited by anti-AAV NAbs (Boutin *et al.*, 2010), alternative AAV vectors with differing epitopes might be able to evade pre-existing or induced humoral immunity. This may involve the utilisation

Strategy	Advantages	Disadvantages	Translational barriers
Alter the route of administration	Clinically translatable approach	May alter the pattern of transduction, reducing gene delivery to target cell type or tissue. Limited number of routes of administration depending on the target tissue	Low: possible to draw on examples from other clinical trials demonstrating safe vector delivery for a given route for some serotypes/organs
Use alternative AAV vectors	Increasing number of novel AAV vectors identified which may be effective at NAb evasion. Increasing understanding of AAV epitopes is enabling rational mutation of antigenic regions could be applied to any vector. <i>In vitro</i> and <i>in vivo</i> screens available to identify resistant vectors	Engineering novel AAVs can expensive and technically challenging, especially when applying multiple rounds of <i>in vivo</i> selection. Novel AAVs may be able to circumvent NAbs but may have unwanted and unintended properties such as high toxicity	High: extensive safety and efficacy testing likely required by regulators to demonstrate benefits of novel capsid in preclinical models and patients. High economic cost associated with regulated clinical trials
Chemical modification of AAV	Non-genetic modifications require relatively simple chemistries amenable to scalable manufacturing	Data suggest limited resistance of PEGylated AAV to NAbs. Limited number of examples of other biological polymers applied to AAV to date	High: safety of biological polymers may be established, but extensive safety testing would be required for novel formulated vectors
Use decoy capsids	Clinically translatable if 'known' serotype (e.g. AAV2) decoy capsids are used. Possible to use higher/lower ratio of decoy:full capsids depending on pre-existing NAb titre	Inclusion of additional decoy capsids may increase immune responses, possibly resulting in (<i>i</i>) CD8+ T- cell activation and destruction of transduced cells, and (<i>ii</i>) stronger induction of NAb responses. Would require production of more AAV capsids which could create a manufacturing bottleneck	Medium: AAV vectors (e.g. AAV2 or 8) used for decoys have established safety profiles in humans, but some additional safety/toxicity studies may be required as higher overall capsid titres will be used
Plasmapheresis	Effective at reducing pre- existing NAb levels if multiple rounds are used. Relatively non-invasive and safe procedure; routinely used in other applications to deplete antibody levels	May not be effective if pre-existing titres are very high. 'Rebound' phenomenon may limit effectiveness and possibility of repeated use	Low: routinely used for treatment of autoimmune conditions. Relatively safe and non- invasive procedure
Use broad-acting immunosuppressants	Possible to utilise FDA- approved drugs to suppress immune responses; highly translatable. Well- characterised safety and efficacy profiles and mechanisms of action	May be ineffective at completely depleting memory B-cells in the bone marrow, which may be required to overcome humoral immunity. Little evidence the approach may enable vector administration in spite of reducing NAb levels in pre-immunised models	Low: many immunosuppressants are FDA-approved, are routinely used in patients, and have favourable safety/toxicity profiles
Use antibody-degrading enzymes	Effective in preclinical studies at enabling efficient gene transfer in low and moderate NAb titre animals. Clinical evidence suggests the approach is safe in patients undergoing graft rejection	Patients may harbour pre-existing humoral immunity to, or develop humoral immunity against this microbial enzyme. Strategy may only be partially effective against high titres of NAbs	Medium: IdeS is not FDA/EMA approved, however, regulatory barriers to successful translation may be lessened given positive safety data pertaining to IdeS in the clinic

Table 3. Summary of possible strategies to overcome pre-existing NAbs against AAV

AAV, adeno-associated virus; NAb, neutralising antibody; PEG, polyethylene glycol; IdeS, an immunoglobulin-cleaving enzyme.

of naturally occurring AAV isolates or the engineering of novel AAV vectors.

Approximately 100 naturally occurring AAVs have now been identified in humans and non-human primates, each of which harbours a distinct tissue tropism, immunogenicity and susceptibility to NAbs. AAVrh32.33, for example, was isolated from Rhesus macaques, and can transduce a variety of human cell types (Vandenberghe, 2010; Mays et al., 2013), yet only 2% of humans are thought to harbour pre-existing NAbs against the virus (Calcedo et al., 2009). Whilst this may prove helpful in circumventing humoral immunity, it should be noted that AAVrh32.33 may be highly immunogenic when injected intramuscularly, possibly limiting its application as a gene therapy vector (Mays et al., 2013). Another natural AAV isolate is AAVrh10, which has been shown to be largely safe and effective at delivering genes to the CNS, lung, liver and heart in animal models. One study reported that 21% of humans are seropositive for AAVrh10, and harbour pre-existing NAbs against this virus, which is lower than that reported for AAV2 (20-90% humans are seropositive), for example, suggesting that AAVrh10 may be an effective means of transferring genes to patients refractory to AAV2-based gene therapies (Thwaite et al., 2015).

Ancestral sequence reconstruction (ASR) via phylogenetic analysis of AAV capsid sequences has also been proposed as a tool for identifying ancestral AAVs with favourable vector immunobiology properties. Anc80L65 is one such vector that is an ancestor of AAVs 1, 2, 8 and 9, and can deliver genes to the retina, liver, and muscle. Analysis of the structure and sequence alignment of Anc80L65 with extant AAVs demonstrated that Anc80L65 was structurally distinct from AAV2, 8 and rh10, exhibiting 12.2, 9.1 and 8.6% cap sequence divergence respectively. As a result, it was found that the vector was significantly more resistant to neutralisation by cross-reactive anti-AAV2 and anti-AAV8 sera than AAV2 and AAV8 vectors. However, in an in vivo model utilising an initial intravenous injection and sequential intramuscular injection, escape from neutralisation was only observed in 3/5 animals tested. Overall, Anc80L65 is a promising candidate vector for circumventing humoral immunity (Zinn et al., 2015).

Other means of engineering the AAV capsid to overcome neutralisation by NAbs involves the modification of antigenic epitope regions on the capsid surface, using molecular biology techniques like error-prone polymerase chain reaction (PCR) and DNA shuffling, to generate diverse capsid libraries which can subsequently be screened for capsids resistant to neutralisation by anti-AAV NAbs (Kotterman & Schaffer, 2014).

An early demonstration of the potential of this approach was reported in 2008, when an adapted DNA family shuffling technology was used to create hybrid AAV capsid proteins. Two rounds of selection were used. The first used *in vitro* hepatocyte cultures to identify AAVs effective at transducing target cells. Pooled human immunoglobulin G (IVIg) was then used to isolate an AAV2/8/9 chimera, termed AAV-DJ, that was found to be more resistant to NAbs than AAV2 in IVIg-immunised mice (Grimm *et al.*, 2008).

This approach was explored further to identify AAV capsids that were resistant to neutralisation. A number of AAV capsid libraries were utilised, including a randomly mutagenised AAV2 library, an AAV2 library with specific residues subject to saturation mutagenesis, a 'shuffled' AAV cap library (generated from AAVs 1, 2, 4, 5, 6, 8, and 9), and an AAV library in which surface hypervariable loops had been swapped between serotypes. Two rounds of selection were then used to identify AAV capsids resistant to neutralisation by NAbs by IVIg and sera samples from patients excluded from haemophilia B clinical trials harbouring high-titre AAV NAbs. The authors conclude that the novel AAV capsids generated may be used to treat patients with high titres of pre-existing NAbs and repeated gene transfer (i.e. re-administration of a gene therapy) in patients who have developed NAbs against AAV (Bartel, Weinstein & Schaffer, 2012).

Aside from directed evolution, AAVs can also be rationally designed via the mutagenesis of epitope regions. This first requires the identification of regions important for binding/ neutralisation by antibodies. One method utilises peptide scanning, in which short linear epitopes are used in enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) screens to identify capsid proteins that bind to anti-AAV antibodies. Peptide insertion into AAV capsids can also be used to disrupt NAb epitopes and thereby identify antibody binding regions on the vector (Tse, Moller-Tank & Asokan, 2015). In silico modelling and systematic mutagenesis of IgG2a antibodies to AAV2 has also been used to identify residues important for antibody binding (Wu et al., 2014). These discoveries have aided the development of NAb-resistant AAVs using a structure-guided approach that does not require the use of IVIg or high NAb titre patient sera to exert selective pressures on large capsid libraries for identifying resistant clones. In one report, synthetic AAVs were evolved via rational mutation of AAV1 antigenic epitopes, which were found to evade polyclonal anti-AAV1 neutralising sera without impacting the tissue tropism or transduction efficiency of the vectors in mouse models and non-human primates (Tse et al., 2017).

Whilst most modifications to AAV to improve NAb resistance have focussed on modification of *cap* gene/capsid protein sequences, recent reports have shown that the encapsulation of AAVs in exosomes can also reduce their susceptibility to humoral immune responses. Termed exosomeassociated AAV (exoAAV), these novel vectors have demonstrated improved transduction across a range of cell types and tissues, in addition to enhanced resistance to NAbs in IVIg-immunised mice. This reduced sensitivity to NAbs has been shown for exoAAV8 in the liver (Meliani *et al.*, 2017) and exoAAV9 in the CNS (Hudry *et al.*, 2016).

(c) Chemical modification of AAV

The engineering of AAV to avoid neutralisation by NAbs has resulted in the development of exciting novel vectors capable of circumventing humoral immune responses *via* the disruption of antigenic epitopes. An alternative approach to preventing NAb-AAV binding/neutralisation is to shield epitopes *via* chemical modification of AAVs.

Polyethylene glycol (PEG) can be chemically conjugated to AAVs to mask them from NAbs, for example. Whilst PEGcoated AAVs have been shown to exhibit greater resistance to NAb-mediated neutralisation, it should be noted that only partial protection was inferred *via* this chemical modification. It was also noted by the authors that the addition of PEG above a certain threshold attenuated the AAVs transduction potential, likely *via* steric hindrance between cell surface receptors and cognate AAV capsid proteins (Lee *et al.*, 2005).

Alternative approaches have sought to encapsulate AAVs in polymer gels like polylactic glycolic acid and alginate that gradually degrade *in vivo*. This approach has been applied to adenoviruses (Beer *et al.*, 1998; Sailaja *et al.*, 2002) and has shown to increase the resistance of these vectors to NAbs, suggesting that this approach may also be effective for AAV vectors. However, the development of anti-polymer antibody responses may pose a significant challenge to this technology (Hoang Thi *et al.*, 2020).

(d) Use of decoy capsids

The use of decoy capsids to circumvent anti-AAV NAbs involves the administration of empty capsid AAVs or infection-deficient AAVs to sequester NAbs prior to or at the same time as therapeutic vector administration. In nonhuman primates, this approach has been shown to block circulating NAbs competitively in a dose-dependent manner and concomitantly restore transduction efficiency (Mingozzi et al., 2013b), however, other studies have shown that this approach is not always effective at circumventing humoral immune responses (Monahan et al., 2015). The authors also showed that the presence of empty capsids in their AAV8 vector preparations did not prevent neutralisation of FIX. R338L delivery in their models via a so-called 'decoy capsid' action (Mingozzi et al., 2013b; Monahan et al., 2015). In contrast to previous reports, which utilised IVIg (Mingozzi et al., 2013b), Monahan et al. (2015) opted for a passive transfer strategy involving the generation of anti-AAV8 NAbs in one group of mice which were then collected and transferred to a different group of mice receiving the FIX.R338L gene therapy. The authors reported that 1:2 or 1:16 NAb titres were sufficient to attenuate transfer of FIX.R338L, but this effect was not rescued by the inclusion of empty capsids in the AAV8 preparation. This was in opposition to previous findings suggesting that 'decoy capsids' may be an effective means of circumventing anti-AAV NAbs (Mingozzi et al., 2013b). Several key differences between these studies are evident, however. First, the source of NAbs [use of hIVIg (Mingozzi et al., 2013b) versus passive transfer of mouse sera (Monahan et al., 2015)] is a key disparity. Further, in Mingozzi et al. (2013b), a higher ratio of decoy vector to full vector was used, both of which may explain the different outcomes.

The use of capsid decoys may represent a possible strategy for overcoming NAb responses, however, this approach may have certain drawbacks. The inclusion of empty capsids in vector formulations has been shown to reduce transduction efficiency and increase vector-related immunotoxicity in one study investigating liver gene transfer with AAV8 (Gao *et al.*, 2014), however, in a non-human primate study investigating AAV2-mediated gene delivery to the retina, the removal of empty capsids had no detectable impact on the generation of anti-AAV lymphocyte or NAb responses (Timmers *et al.*, 2020).

(e) Plasmapheresis

Plasmapheresis is a clinical procedure that involves ex vivo removal of NAbs from an individual's blood by using filtration- or centrifugation-based techniques, before the blood is transferred back (Derksen et al., 1984). The approach can be used to reduce the build-up of antibodies in conditions like haemorrhagic lupus pneumonitis (Erickson, Franklin & Emlen, 1994) and Guillain-Barre syndrome (Buzzigoli et al., 2010), both of which involve elevated levels of pathologic antibodies. It is also used in patients with visual loss from atypical optic neuropathies mediated by antibodies against aquaporin-4 (AQP4) and myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein (MOG) (Sato et al., 2014). In terms of gene therapy, plasmapheresis provides a possible means of achieving a transient drop in NAb titres below a certain threshold to enable vector administration. It could, therefore be applied to an individual with high pre-existing NAb levels or one who develops high NAb titres after receiving a gene therapy. This approach was tested in a non-human primate model, and found to be effective with six rounds of plasmapheresis over a 2-day period effectively reducing NAb levels in seropositive animals. Following vector administration, animals that had undergone plasmapheresis exhibited the same transduction levels as seronegative animals following intravenous injection of a microDystrophin-expressing AAV construct (Chicoine et al., 2014). Plasmapheresis is usually well tolerated from a safety perspective (Vucic & Davies, 1998). However, one possible limitation to using plasmapheresis is a phenomenon known as 'rebound', in which IgG levels quickly return to the same or even higher levels following treatment. In a clinical trial, it was shown that multiple rounds of plasmapheresis were required to reduce NAb levels for gene therapy, which could be partly explained by this 'rebound' effect. Whilst reductions to <1:5 NAb titres were achieved in some individuals across multiple serotypes (AAV1, 2, 6 and 8), it should be noted that such an outcome required five rounds of plasmapheresis in some instances. Furthermore, in those individuals exhibiting very high preexisting NAb titres, for example, 1:12800 anti-AAV2 in one particular case, successive rounds of plasmapheresis did not reduce the titre below 1:200. This suggested that the process may be ineffective in enabling efficient gene transfer in all patients with pre-existing NAbs (Monteilhet et al., 2011).

Recently, a novel plasmapheresis protocol was described, in which the specific depletion of anti-AAV IgG from plasma could be achieved without depleting total IgG levels. Using this approach, high-titre human IgG pools and plasma samples were tested, and near-complete removal of anti-AAV IgG was achieved using an N-hydroxysuccinimidyl sepharose column onto which AAV8 particles were grafted. The process was able to reduce anti-AAV8 IgG to levels that enabled efficient gene transfer in mouse models. This study highlighted the possible advantages to specific depletion of AAV IgG using plasmapheresis, which has distinct safety advantages, mitigating the risks of leaving an individual vulnerable to opportunistic pathogens following pan-IgG depletion (Bertin *et al.*, 2020).

(f) Use of pharmacological immunosuppressants

The use of immunosuppressant drugs, which may impact both the innate and adaptive arms of the immune system, appears to be largely effective in managing anti-AAV T-cell responses when administered prophylactically or once a rise in liver transaminases is detected. Completely circumventing pre-existing anti-AAV humoral immunity with broad-acting immunosuppressants is more challenging however, likely due to the inability of these compounds effectively to deplete memory B-cells in the bone marrow (Vandamme et al., 2017). One report utilising a mouse model of AAV immunity has shown that pharmacological intervention can be used to reduce pre-existing NAb levels, however. Pre-existing immunity was generated by an intravenous injection of AAV9 vectors. A combination of rapamycin and prednisolone administered daily for 8 weeks reduced anti-AAV9 NAb levels by 85-93%, and in addition, decreased levels of B-cells and plasma cells were observed. This combination was found to selectively inhibit helper T-cell-mediated B-cell activation in the spleen, leading to effective anti-AAV9 NAb depletion. Although such an approach could prove an attractive strategy for circumventing humoral immune responses to AAV, this study did not confirm whether vector re-administration was possible in their model after treatment with rapamycin and prednisolone (Velazquez et al., 2017).

(g) Use of NAb degrading enzymes

One recent report outlined the possible use of an immunoglobulin-degrading enzyme, IdeS, to reduce preexisting NAb levels and enable efficient gene transfer in mouse and non-human primate models. The authors showed that reductions in NAb levels from 1:10 to <1:1 in C57BL6/J mice was possible following a 25 µg injection of IdeS, which was associated with increased FIX expression after delivery of AAV8.FIX, and a concomitant 50% reduction in bleeding time (measure of therapeutic efficacy in haemophilia B models). Similarly, in cynomolgus macaques (Macaca fascicularis), a 1:17.2 to <1:5 reduction in NAb titre was achieved after two injections of 500 µg/kg IdeS. This was associated with a 4-10-fold increase in FIX levels after delivery of AAV8.FIX. The authors suggest that the utilisation of IdeS in human trials may be safe, given that its use has not yet been associated with significant toxicities or increased risk of opportunistic infection in healthy subjects (Winstedt et al., 2015) or patients undergoing graft transplantation

(Jordan et al., 2017). However, the possibility of patients harbouring pre-existing humoral immunity to IdeS, or developing humoral immunity to IdeS following administration, may require further investigation. The authors tested whether IdeS could enable repeated gene transfer using sequential injections of AAV-LK003.FIX. Whilst 10-fold reductions in NAb levels were seen in some of the non-human primate models, only two subjects appeared to permit transduction after the second injection of AAV-LK003, and even in these animals, the level of FIX peaked at ~100 ng/ml, which is four times lower than that observed in the IdeS-treated animal in their earlier experiments. In summary, IdeS appeared to be effective at circumventing humoral immunity when faced with low to moderate NAb levels, but may not be completely effective at overcoming high NAb titres (Leborgne et al., 2020).

(2) Preventing the induction of AAV NAbs

Pre-existing NAbs represent a significant barrier to the success of gene therapies in the clinic. As outlined above, the delivery of AAV into most, if not all, sites in the body appears to result in the development of humoral immunity against the capsid, which may limit the possibility of vector re-administration. This is an important aspect of AAV gene therapy for several reasons. First, gene therapy constructs may display reduced efficacy over time as cells epigenetically downregulate 'foreign' gene expression cassettes via CpG island hypermethylation (Gray et al., 2011). Second, in dividing tissues such as the liver, transduced cells are lost over time, thereby reducing therapeutic efficacy (Verdera et al., 2020). In a number of non-dividing tissues, such as the inner retina/RGC layer, many pathologies exhibit a degenerative phenotype which may lead to the loss of transduced cells over time (Levin & Gordon, 2002). For many diseases, titrating the vector dose may prove a useful strategy towards 'tailoring' a gene therapy to a particular patient due to disparities in age and/or stage of disease progression, for example. In all of these scenarios, efficient vector re-administration is required, in which preventing the development of anti-AAV NAbs is key. Here we will discuss a number of possible strategies that could be used to achieve this goal in clinical trials and preclinical studies. These are summarised in Table 4.

(a) Inhibition of T-cell activation

CD4+ 'helper' T-cells can indirectly affect the humoral immune response by regulating the function of B-cells and their antibody-producing progeny plasma cells. Downregulating CD4+ T-cell function can therefore be utilised as a means of reducing anti-AAV NAb levels. The promising results discussed below suggest that the inhibition of T-cell activity could prove an effective means of preventing the induction of anti-capsid humoral immune responses in the eye.

Anti-CD4 antibodies have been used to deplete (via induction of apoptosis in target cells) CD4+ T-cell levels and

Strategy	Advantages	Disadvantages	Translational barriers
Inhibit T-cell activation	Several pathways can be targeted to prevent anti-AAV NAb responses using FDA-approved drugs such as Cedelizumab. Tregitopes may be used to induce tolerance of AAV antigens	T-cell inhibition may leave patient vulnerable to infection and cancer development. Fewer FDA-approved modalities than small molecule- based approaches to immunosuppression	Medium: some FDA-approved anti-CD4 mAbs are available for creating immunosuppression in patients. Few clinical data supporting safety of approach in humans
Inhibit B-cell activation	Inhibiting B-cell function may prevent NAb formation whilst retaining cytotoxic T-cell function, against tumourigenic cells for example. FDA- approved drugs are available for this application. Preclinical evidence suggests generation of tolerogenic B-cells is possible	B-cell levels may take 6– 12 months to recover, leaving patients vulnerable to opportunistic pathogens and tumourigenesis. Fewer FDA-approved modalities than small molecule-based approaches to immunosuppression	Medium: some FDA-approved anti-CD20 mAbs are available for creating immunosuppression in patients. Few clinical data supporting safety of approach in humans
Use broad-acting immunosuppressants	Possible to utilise FDA-approved drugs to suppress immune responses; highly translatable. Well-characterised safety and efficacy profiles and mechanisms of action	Preclinical evidence suggests this approach may not be sufficient to prevent NAb formation or enable vector re-administration. Outcomes of clinical trials investigating gene delivery to the retina also suggest this approach may not be effective in all patients	Low: many immunosuppressants are FDA-approved and are routinely used in patients. Many immunosuppressants have favourable safety/toxicity profiles

Table 4. Summary of possible strategies to prevent induction of anti-AAV Nabs

AAV, adeno-associated virus; NAb, neutralising antibody.

abolish anti-AAV NAb levels following a tail vein injection of AAV in a mouse model. However, this study also demonstrated that delivery of the vector directly into the portal circulation produced a humoral immune response that was only partially T-cell-dependent, thereby reducing the effectiveness of the anti-CD4 depletion strategy. Overall the study demonstrated that CD4 depletion may be an effective means of circumventing NAb responses for certain routes of delivery (Xiao *et al.*, 2000).

Alternative approaches have described the use of nondepleting anti-CD4 antibodies to prevent NAb responses. Here, intravenous administration of an anti-CD4 monoclonal antibody (mAb) prior to delivery of an AAV2/9 vector demonstrated reductions in anti-vector and anti-transgene [acid α -glucosidase (GAA)] NAbs in a mouse model of Pompe disease. The authors concluded that the mAb prevented co-receptor (CD4) stimulation of T-cells, in turn rendering them ineffective as B-cell activators (Han *et al.*, 2015). T-cell-dependent activation of B-cells can also be inhibited by blocking other signalling pathways. Antibodies and fusion proteins against CD40-CD40L and CD28-CD80/86 receptors have been shown to reduce NAb levels against AAV proteins and thereby enable re-administration to the lung in a rabbit model (Halbert *et al.*, 1998). One study sought to combine a non-depleting anti-CD4 mAb therapy with the T-cell immunosuppressive drug, cyclosporin A (CyA), and showed that a 20-fold reduction in NAb levels was possible using this approach (McIntosh *et al.*, 2012). Other studies have utilised 'Tregitopes' (De Groot *et al.*, 2008) (IgG-derived MHC epitopes) to activate Treg responses in order to inhibit NAb production. In a mouse model, Tregitopes were fused to AAV capsid peptides, and subsequently used to induce proliferation of Treg cells that suppressed CD8+T-cell cytotoxic function against AAV-expressing cells (Hui *et al.*, 2013). This demonstrated an interesting proof-of-concept and suggests that Tregitopes could be applied to reducing NAb levels after vector administration.

(b) Inhibition of B-cell activation

The inhibition of T-cell activation can prevent anti-AAV antibody production by B-cells/plasma cells. Efforts to inhibit activation and/or induce apoptosis of B-cell/plasma cells have also shown promise as tools for overcoming humoral immunity to AAV. The activation of B-cells and their maturation into antibody-producing plasma cells is a complex process. With AAV gene therapy, APCs are thought to display AAV capsid peptides to immature B-cells which initiate downstream signalling pathways resulting in the endocytosis of AAV antigens (Carrasco & Batista, 2006; Harwood & Batista, 2008). The B-cell then presents the antigen on its surface with MHC class II molecules, which can be recognised by CD4+ helper T-cells, causing them to proliferate and migrate to the germinal centres, where somatic hypermutation and isotype switching occur. Most activated B-cells will become plasma cells and produce NAbs against AAV, whilst others develop into memory B-cells (Basner-Tschakarjan, Bijjiga & Martino, 2014). Inhibition of B-cell activation for circumventing humoral immune responses to AAV capsids has shown promise in a number of preclinical models, highlighting possible application to ocular gene therapy programmes.

Understanding the process by which B-cells are activated therefore helps to inform strategies to prevent NAb responses. Bortezomib, an FDA-approved therapy for multiple myeloma (plasma cell tumour), is a proteasome inhibitor that attenuates antigen processing and presentation of epitopes on the surface of B-cells. Administration of Bortezomib has been shown to reduce NAb titres by 8–10-fold by depleting AAV2/8-specific IgG-producing plasma cells in the lymphoid organs and bone marrow. However, this reduction was not sufficient to allow vector re-administration, which the authors attribute to residual anti-AAV8 NAbs due to the inability of Bortezomib completely to eradicate anti-AAV8 plasma and memory B-cells (Karman *et al.*, 2012).

Depletion of activated B-cells can also be utilised as a means of reducing NAb levels. Rituximab, an anti-CD20 antibody, can induce B-cell apoptosis by (i) recruiting cytotoxic natural killer and macrophage cells to antibody-bound B-cells, or (ii) activating the cytotoxic complement cascade via C1q binding to induce B-cell lysis (Smith, 2003). In a clinical trial, Rituximab treatment was shown to reduce circulating NAb levels up to 24 weeks after two intravenous infusions, however the authors noted that these reductions were only observed in a subset of patients with titres of <1:1000, and only a minority of subjects' titres were reduced to <1:5 (Mingozzi et al., 2013a). This finding was corroborated by reports that a combination of rituximab and rapamycin in a 45-month-old patient with Pompe disease was an effective strategy to mitigate anti-AAV immune responses. The authors conclude that the strategy allows for the possibility of vector re-administration in the future, but no data were presented in relation to this, and it should also be noted that this was a single-subject clinical trial (Corti et al., 2014). In a non-human primate study, CyA (calcineurin inhibitor, inhibits T- and B-cells) was trialled in combination with Rituximab. The study showed that anti-transgene (FIX for haemophilia B) NAb levels could be significantly reduced with this strategy. Further, in one animal, anti-AAV6 NAb titres dropped to undetectable levels, which was subsequently shown to be permissive of vector re-administration. In the other animal however, the dual immunosuppression strategy did not appear to be effective and re-administration appeared to be blocked by anti-AAV6 NAbs (Mingozzi et al., 2012).

Clearly, B-cell depletion strategies may be an effective means of overcoming humoral immunity to AAV, however, the approach is not without its drawbacks. For instance, following Rituximab treatment, patients are immunocompromised for a period of around 6–12 months as their B-cell levels return to normal, which can leave them vulnerable to opportunistic pathogens. In two severe cases, activation of dormant human polyomavirus was associated with the onset of progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy following administration of Rituximab (Chakraborty *et al.*, 2011). Further, it should be noted that anti-CD20 antibodies will not deplete plasma cells, which are the antibody-producing cells of the immune system, possibly limiting the ability of the strategy to reduce NAb levels whilst still posing a significant safety concern (Leandro, 2013).

As an alternative to B-cell depletion, the induction of Bcell tolerance can be utilised to prevent the generation of anti-AAV NAbs and thereby allow for vector re-administration. For instance, antigen-specific immunotherapy can be used to inhibit B-cell activation by inducing Treg cells for a particular antigen. In one study, an immunogenic protein was fused to an immunoglobulin heavy chain, and transferred into activated B-cells in vitro using a retroviral vector. The generation of tolerogenic B-cells was observed which were found to attenuate immune responses against multiple epitopes of the cloned protein. Mechanistically, this effect was linked to the stimulation of Treg cells by the transduced B-cells (Skupsky et al., 2007). Whilst this approach has not yet been applied to AAV gene therapy, these results suggest it might be effective at limiting humoral immune responses.

Another means of preventing B-cell activation is to target inhibitory co-receptors present on the surface of B-cells. CD22 and SIGLEC-G are two sialic acid-binding co-receptors known to play a role in mediating the induction of tolerance of self-antigens. Recent data have shown that high-affinity ligands for these co-receptors can induce antigen-specific B-cell tolerance, highlighting a possible strategy for treating autoimmune diseases which may be applied to preventing anti-AAV humoral immune responses in the future (Müller & Nitschke, 2014). For instance, immunisation of mice with nanoparticles conjugated to human factor VIII and CD22 has been shown to induce tolerance to and antibody production against factor VIII (Macauley *et al.*, 2013), suggesting a similar approach could be applied to AAV capsid proteins.

(c) Use of pharmacological immunosuppressants

In addition to targeting specific arms of the immune system with anti-CD4 or anti-CD20 antibody-based depletion strategies, the use of broad-acting small molecule immunosuppressants has been trialled, either alone or in combination. Many of these are FDA-approved and routinely used in patients, making this approach highly clinically translatable for ocular gene therapy.

In a mini-pig model of advanced heart failure, AAV1 encoding sarcoplasmic reticulum calcium ATPase gene

(SERCA2a) was delivered by intravenous administration. A combination of immunosuppressive drugs was tested to see whether this could circumvent NAb responses. Here, oral mycophenolate mofetil (MMF) and rapamycin were administered daily from 2 weeks before to 3 months after vector infusion, and methylprednisolone sodium succinate was administered daily by intramuscular injection up to 3 months after AAV1 delivery. In spite of the utilisation of this aggressive immunosuppressive regimen, the induction of AAV1 NAbs was still observed in both the immunosuppressed and non-immunosuppressed groups, and comparison of these groups revealed no apparent effect of immunosuppression on the development of NAbs (Greenberg *et al.*, 2016).

Studies examining immunosuppression in non-human primates have suggested the approach may not be effective for liver gene therapy with AAV5. Here, animals were injected intravenously with AAV5 to generate an immune response. Over the next 12-week period, anti-thymocyte IgG, methylprednisolone, tacrolimus and rituximab were given in combination. These were found to attenuate anti-AAV5 NAbs during the 12 weeks, but NAb levels rose significantly once this treatment stopped. The authors then demonstrated that this 'rebound' in NAb levels completely inhibited repeated vector re-administration of AAV5 (Unzu *et al.*, 2012).

These results were corroborated by another study in nonhuman primates investigating microDystrophin delivery to the muscle. Animals receiving (*i*) prednisolone alone, (*ii*) a prednisolone, tacrolimus and MMF combination, and (*iii*) no immunosuppressants were compared. No differences in transgene expression were observed in seropositive animals between these three groups, indicating that the immunosuppressants given may have been ineffective at reducing anti-AAV NAb levels. This was in spite of the fact that the immunosuppressants were shown to downregulate lymphocyte proliferation, a finding which may highlight the challenge in attenuating pre-existing humoral immunity to AAV (Chicoine *et al.*, 2014).

The complexity of overcoming the induction of NAbs against AAV following delivery to the CNS has been demonstrated in clinical studies. One study tested an AAV2 vector expressing aspartoacylase and delivered by intracranial injection in patients with Canavan disease. In this study, only 3/10 patients developed low to moderate sera NAb titres *versus* baseline, in spite of the fact that no patients were given perioperative immunosuppressants (McPhee *et al.*, 2006).

In another trial, an AAVrh10 vector encoding arylsulphatase A was delivered by intracerebral injection in patients with metachromatic leukodystrophy. Steroids were administered 1 day prior and 10 days after the surgery, however, in all patients enrolled in the study, the development of anti-AAV antibodies was observed in the sera and CSF. This suggestion that steroids may not be effective in preventing anti-AAV NAb responses has been supported by recent data investigating AAV9 gene therapy. Here, AAV9 vectors were used to transfer gigaxonin into the CNS of cross-reactive immunologic material (CRIM)-negative giant axonal neuropathy patients, and a combination of methylprednisolone, prednisone, tacrolimus and rapamycin was used. However, anti-AAV9 NAbs were still observed in the sera and CSF after vector infusion, in spite of the fact that the combination of immunosuppressants was effective at preventing inflammation (pleocytosis; elevated CSF lymphocyte counts) (Verdera *et al.*, 2020). This is possibly in accordance with clinical studies investigating AAV gene transfer to the retina reviewed above in which some patients developed NAb responses in the absence of intraocular inflammation.

Recently, small molecule immunosuppressants have been modified to improve their properties in vivo. In a study utilising non-human primate and mouse models, rapamycin was encapsulated in poly-lactic acid nanoparticles, termed SVP rapamycin (rapa). SVPrapa was found to prevent anti-AAV cellular and humoral immune response induction, thereby permitting re-administration of the vector, when coadministered with the initial injection of AAV. The drug mitigated antigen-specific activation of T-cells and B-cells, prevented CD8+ T-cell infiltration into the liver, and inhibited memory T-cell responses. Interestingly, the authors showed that the adoptive transfer of splenocytes from treated to naiive mice transferred the immunomodulatory properties of SVPrapa. They then demonstrated that anti-CD25 antibody depletion partially rescued SVPrapa's effect on anti-AAV8 IgG levels, suggesting that Treg cells may be involved in the mechanism of action (Meliani et al., 2018).

(3) Overcoming humoral immune responses to AAV – the need for a comprehensive approach

The studies discussed above highlight the possible challenges of circumventing humoral immune responses to AAV. It is clear that some approaches have shown promise in preclinical models and human patients. In our view, however, effective strategies to overcome pre-existing NAbs and prevent the induction of humoral immunity against AAV gene therapies are still under development. A summary of possible advantages, disadvantages and barriers to clinical implementation for each approach is provided in Tables 3 and 4. Here we will suggest a comprehensive strategy that could be used to circumvent both pre-existing and induced humoral immunity in the future. We aim to provide a framework for future investigations so that robust and repeatable vector administration to previously untreatable patients is possible. Our proposed approach is outlined in Fig. 2.

Completely to eliminate pre-existing humoral immunity against AAV, especially if a patient presents with a high NAb titre, may require a combinatorial approach. AAVspecific plasmapheresis may initially be used to reduce NAb titres, followed by a vector infusion incorporating a novel vector with either (*i*) mutated capsid epitopes (*via* a random or computational approach), (*ii*) NAb-resistant chemical modifications, or (*iii*) a combination of both. The inclusion of decoy capsids may also be utilised to sequester any NAbs that were not cleared by plasmapheresis. In conjunction, a combination of broad-acting small molecule immunosuppressants may be administered perioperatively, along with a





Fig 2. Possible approaches to enable repeated gene transfer. Top panel: an individual with a high pre-existing NAb titre that results in neutralisation of conventional AAV serotypes in the absence of immunomodulation. Bottom panel: Pre-existing NAbs are depleted and immunomodulation is used to reduce induction of anti-AAV NAbs post-administration. Patient sera is extracted and used to screen an AAV library for NAb-resistant and target tissue-tropic clones. This enables repeated gene delivery to multiple organs in a patient presenting with multiple morbidities. AAV, adeno-associated virus; BP, bipolar cell; IS, immunosuppression; PR, photoreceptor; RGC, retinal ganglion cell; RPE, retinal pigment epithelium; NAb, neutralising antibody.

Biological Reviews 96 (2021) 1616–1644 © 2021 The Authors. Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society.

T- or B-cell-targeted peptide immunotherapy approach to induce antigen-specific tolerance to an AAV antigen and prevent the induction of anti-AAV NAbs that may arise in response to certain gene therapies.

This example, whilst hypothetical, demonstrates the range of possible solutions currently under investigation and highlights the need for a range of approaches to ensure efficient and repeatable vector administration to target organs. However, there is a need for more research into what combination of possible solutions provides maximal benefit depending on the target organ and route of administration. In particular, investigation into possible redundant or counterproductive combinations (e.g. effective T-cell/B-cell depletion negating the need for small molecule immunosuppressants, or successful capsid modifications eliminating the use of decoy capsids).

Further studies are also needed to establish safety and efficacy profiles of novel vectors in particular, which will require regulatory approval before routine clinical use is feasible. In the future, a library of FDA-approved, antigenically distinct engineered AAVs with highly specific tissue tropisms would likely be beneficial, which may enable repeated 'swapping' of vector capsids for a particular therapeutic construct to overcome pre-existing and/or induced humoral immunity whilst ensuring robust and tissue/cell-specific transduction. Here, high-throughput NAb assays could enable selection of an AAV variant from a library that is resistant to neutralisation by a particular patient's sera. A peptide scanning based-approach (Moskalenko et al., 2000) could even be used subsequently to identify epitopes on the selected capsid, allow rational mutagenesis of these regions and ensure maximal resistance of the engineered virion to neutralisation, and to facilitate 'individualised' gene delivery to a particular patient based on a thorough characterisation of their NAbs.

VI. CONCLUSIONS

- AAV is a promising vector for delivering therapeutic genes to diseased cells. A number of clinical trials have shown that AAV is a safe and effective vehicle for gene therapy, however, the deleterious role of NAbs remains a significant barrier in a proportion of treated individuals.
- (2) Pre-existing NAbs limit the efficiency of gene transfer to the cells being targeted with a potential negative impact on treatment efficacy. This is an especially important consideration for strategies that involve intravenous AAV infusions into the circulation where very low or even undetectable NAb titres may completely abolish transduction of the target tissues. Injections of AAV into skeletal muscle and the CNS, including the retina, also appear to be partially limited by pre-existing NAbs.
- (3) After vector administration, an increase in AAV NAbs has been documented in some individuals recruited into clinical trials investigating muscular, hepatic and

neurological disorders. In the ocular compartment, the increased NAb titres observed after IVT or SRT does not appear to be correlated with the vector dose or baseline NAb titre. Interestingly, intraocular inflammation appears to be more common in those individuals who do exhibit significant increases in NAb titres. More research is, therefore, needed to understand why this particular subgroup exhibit greater NAb responses, with early evidence pointing towards AAV reactive T-cells playing a role in these seronegative individuals. The longevity of the therapeutic effect of AAV vectors in individuals with intraocular inflammation could be monitored with longterm follow-up, as this group may be most at risk of CD8+ T-cell clearance of transduced cells and eventual loss of efficacy.

(4) In our view, circumventing AAV NAbs to enable repeated dosing to multiple organs, including the retina, will require a comprehensive strategy capable of overcoming both pre-existing and induced humoral immune responses. More research is also required to understand whether prophylactic steroid administration prevents NAb induction, and the application of other T-cell and B-cell immunomodulators to block this critical step could also prove beneficial. To overcome pre-existing high titres of NAbs, the potential application of plasmapheresis and decoy capsids prior to intraocular injection requires further evaluation. Utilising patient sera to select NAb-resistant clones from a capsid library, followed by rational mutation of capsid epitopes could prove a useful strategy in the future, enabling individualised intraocular gene delivery to a particular individual.

VII. REFERENCES

- AL-ZAIDY, S., PICKARD, A. S., KOTHA, K., ALFANO, L. N., LOWES, L., PAUL, G., CHURCH, K., LEHMAN, K., SPROULE, D. M., DABBOUS, O., MARU, B., BERRY, K., ARNOLD, W. D., KISSEL, J. T., MENDELL, J. R., et al. (2019). Health outcomes in spinal muscular atrophy type 1 following AVXS-101 gene replacement therapy. *Pediatric Pulmonology* 54, 179–185.
- AMADO, D., MINGOZZI, F., HUI, D., BENNICELLI, J. L., WEI, Z., CHEN, Y., BOTE, E., GRANT, R. L., GOLDEN, J. A., NARFSTROM, K., SYED, N. A., ORLIN, S. E., HIGH, K. A., MAGUIRE, A. M. & BENNETT, J. (2010). Safety and efficacy of subretinal readministration of a viral vector in large animals to treat congenital blindness. *Science Translational Medicine* 2, 2116.
- ANAND, V., CHIRMULE, N., FERSH, M., MAGUIRE, A. M. & BENNETT, J. (2000). Additional transduction events after subretinal readministration of recombinant adeno-associated virus. *Human Gene Therapy* 11, 449–457.
- ANAND, V., DUFFY, B., YANG, Z., DEJNEKA, N. S., MAGUIRE, A. M. & BENNETT, J. (2002). A deviant immune response to viral proteins and transgene product is generated on subretinal administration of adenovirus and adeno-associated virus. *Molecular Therapy* 5, 125–132.
- ASHLEY, S. N., SOMANATHAN, S., GILES, A. R. & WILSON, J. M. (2019). TLR9 signaling mediates adaptive immunity following systemic AAV gene therapy. *Cellular Immunology* 346, 103997.
- BAINBRIDGE, J. W. B., MEHAT, M. S., SUNDARAM, V., ROBBIE, S. J., BARKER, S. E., RIPAMONTI, C., GEORGIADIS, A., MOWAT, F. M., BEATTIE, S. G., GARDNER, P. J., FEATHERS, K. L., LUONG, V. A., YZER, S., BALAGGAN, K., VISWANATHAN, A., et al. (2015). Long-term effect of gene therapy on Leber's congenital amaurosis. *New England Journal of Medicine* 372, 1887–1897.
- BAINBRIDGE, J. W. B., SMITH, A. J., BARKER, S. S., ROBBIE, S., HENDERSON, R., BALAGGAN, K., VISWANATHAN, A., HOLDER, G. E., STOCKMAN, A., TYLER, N.,

PETERSEN-JONES, S., BHATTACHARYA, S. S., THRASHER, A. J., FITZKE, F. W., CARTER, B. J., et al. (2008). Effect of gene therapy on visual function in Leber's congenital amaurosis. *New England Journal of Medicine* **358**, 2231–2239.

- BARTEL, M. A., WEINSTEIN, J. R. & SCHAFFER, D. V. (2012). Directed evolution of novel adeno-associated viruses for therapeutic gene delivery. *Gene Therapy* 19, 694–700.
- BASNER-TSCHAKARJAN, E., BIJJIGA, E. & MARTINO, A. T. (2014). Pre-clinical assessment of immune responses to adeno-associated virus (AAV) vectors. *Frontiers* in *Immunology* 5, 28.
- BECERRA, S. P., KOCZOT, F., FABISCH, P. & ROSE, J. A. (1988). Synthesis of adenoassociated virus structural proteins requires both alternative mRNA splicing and alternative initiations from a single transcript. *Journal of Virology* 62, 2745–2754.
- BEER, S. J., MATTHEWS, C. B., STEIN, C. S., ROSS, B. D., HILFINGER, J. M. & DAVIDSON, B. L. (1998). Poly (lactic-glycolic) acid copolymer encapsulation of recombinant adenovirus reduces immunogenicity in vivo. *Gene Therapy*, 6, 740–746.
- BENNETT, J., ASHTARI, M., WELLMAN, J., MARSHALL, K. A., CYCKOWSKI, L. L., CHUNG, D. C., MCCAGUE, S., PIERCE, E. A., CHEN, Y., BENNICELLI, J. L., ZHU, X., YING, G.-S., SUN, J., WRIGHT, J. F., AURICCHIO, A., et al. (2012). AAV2 gene therapy readministration in three adults with congenital blindness. *Science Translational Medicine* 4, 15.
- BERRY, G. E. & ASOKAN, A. (2016). Cellular transduction mechanisms of adenoassociated viral vectors. *Current Opinion in Virology* 21, 54–60.
- BERTIN, B., VERON, P., LEBORGNE, C., DESCHAMPS, J.-Y., MOULLEC, S., FROMES, Y., COLLAUD, F., BOUTIN, S., LATOURNERIE, V., VAN WITTENBERGHE, L., DELACHE, B., LE GRAND, R., DEREUDDRE-BOSQUET, N., BENVENISTE, O., MOULLIER, P., et al. (2020). Capsid-specific removal of circulating antibodies to adeno-associated virus vectors. *Scientific Reports* 10, 864.
- BOOY, F. P., RODEN, R. B. S., GREENSTONE, H. L., SCHILLER, J. T. & TRUS, B. L. (1998). Two antibodies that neutralize papillomavirus by different mechanisms show distinct binding patterns at 13 Å resolution. *Journal of Molecular Biology* 281, 95–106.
- BOUQUET, C., VIGNAL CLERMONT, C., GALY, A., FITOUSSI, S., BLOUIN, L., MUNK, M. R., VALERO, S., MEUNIER, S., KATZ, B., SAHEL, J. A. & THOMASSON, N. (2019). Immune response and intraocular inflammation in patients with Leber Hereditary Optic Neuropathy treated with intravitreal injection of recombinant adeno-associated virus 2 carrying the ND4 gene: a secondary analysis of a phase 1/2 clinical trial. *JAMA Ophthalmology* 137, 399–406.
- BOUTIN, S., MONTEILHET, V., VERON, P., LEBORGNE, C., BENVENISTE, O., MONTUS, M. F. & MASURIER, C. (2010). Prevalence of serum IgG and neutralizing factors against adeno-associated virus (AAV) types 1, 2, 5, 6, 8, and 9 in the healthy population: implications for gene therapy using AAV vectors. *Human Gene Therapy* 21, 704–712.
- BRANTLY, M. L., CHULAY, J. D., WANG, L., MUELLER, C., HUMPHRIES, M., SPENCER, L. T., ROUHANI, F., CONLON, T. J., CALCEDO, R., BETTS, M. R., SPENCER, C., BYRNE, B. J., WILSON, J. M. & FLOTTE, T. R. (2009). Sustained transgene expression despite T lymphocyte responses in a clinical trial of rAAVI-AAT gene therapy. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 106, 16363–16368.
- BRANTLY, M. L., SPENCER, L. T., HUMPHRIES, M., CONLON, T. J., SPENCER, C. T., POIRIER, A., GARLINGTON, W., BAKER, D., SONG, S., BERNS, K. I., MUZYCZKA, N., SNYDER, R. O., BYRNE, B. J. & FLOTTE, T. R. (2006). Phase I trial of intramuscular injection of a recombinant adeno-associated virus serotype 2 αl-antitrypsin (AAT) vector in AAT-deficient adults. *Human Gene Therapy* **17**, 1177–1186.
- BRIOEN, P., DEKEGEL, D. & BOEYÉ, A. (1983). Neutralization of poliovirus by antibody-mediated polymerization. *Virology* 127, 463–468.
- BUZZIGOLI, S. B., GENOVESI, M., LAMBELET, P., LOGI, C., RAFFAELLI, S. & CATTANO, D. (2010). Plasmapheresis treatment in Guillain-Barré syndrome: potential benefit over intravenous immunoglobulin. *Anaesthesia and Intensive Care* 38, 387–389.
- CALCEDO, R., VANDENBERGHE, L. H., GAO, G., LIN, J. & WILSON, J. M. (2009). Worldwide epidemiology of neutralizing antibodies to adeno-associated viruses. *Journal of Infectious Diseases* **199**, 381–390.
- CALCEDO, R. & WILSON, J. M. (2013). Humoral immune response to AAV. Frontiers in Immunology 4, 341.
- CARRASCO, Y. R. & BATISTA, F. D. (2006). B cell recognition of membrane-bound antigen: an exquisite way of sensing ligands. *Current Opinion in Immunology* 18, 286–291.
- CHAKRABORTY, S., TARANTOLO, S. R., TREVES, J., SAMBOL, D., HAUKE, R. J. & BATRA, S. K. (2011). Progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy in a HIVnegative patient with small lymphocytic leukemia following treatment with rituximab. *Case Reports in Oncology* 4, 136–142.
- CHAUDHURI, J. & ALT, F. W. (2004). Class-switch recombination: interplay of transcription, DNA deamination and DNA repair. *Nature Reviews Immunology* 4, 541–552.
- CHEN, J., WU, Q., YANG, P. A., HSU, H. C. & MOUNTZ, J. D. (2006). Determination of specific CD4 and CD8 T cell epitopes after AAV2- and AAV8-hF.IX gene therapy. *Molecular Therapy* 13, 260–269.

- CHEN, X., LIN, M., QIAN, S., ZHANG, Z., FU, Y., XU, J., HAN, X., DING, H., DONG, T., SHANG, H. & JIANG, Y. (2018). The early antibody-dependent cellmediated cytotoxicity response is associated with lower viral set point in individuals with primary HIV infection. *Frontiers in Immunology* 9, 2322.
- CHICOINE, L. G., MONTGOMERY, C. L., BREMER, W. G., SHONTZ, K. M., GRIFFIN, D. A., HELLER, K. N., LEWIS, S., MALIK, V., GROSE, W. E., SHILLING, C. J., CAMPBELL, K. J., PRESTON, T. J., COLEY, B. D., MARTIN, P. T., WALKER, C. M., et al. (2014). Plasmapheresis eliminates the negative impact of AAV antibodies on microdystrophin gene expression following vascular delivery. *Molecular Therapy* 22, 338–347.
- CHOI, V. W., MCCARTY, D. M. & SAMULSKI, R. J. (2006). Host cell DNA repair pathways in adeno-associated viral genome processing. *Journal of Virology* **80**, 10346–10356.
- COLELLA, P., RONZITTI, G. & MINGOZZI, F. (2018). Emerging issues in AAVmediated in vivo gene therapy. *Molecular Therapy - Methods and Clinical Development* 8, 87–104.
- CONSTABLE, I. J., PIERCE, C. M., LAI, C. M., MAGNO, A. L., DEGLI-ESPOSTI, M. A., FRENCH, M. A., MCALLISTER, I. L., BUTLER, S., BARONE, S. B., SCHWARTZ, S. D., BLUMENKRANZ, M. S. & RAKOCZY, E. P. (2016). Phase 2a randomized clinical trial: safety and post hoc analysis of subretinal rAAV.sFLT-1 for wet age-related macular degeneration. *EBioMedicine* 14, 168–175.
- CORTI, M., ELDER, M. E., FALK, D. J., LAWSON, L., SMITH, B. K., NAYAK, S., CONLON, T. J., CLÉMENT, N., ERGER, K., LAVASSANI, E., GREEN, M. M., DOERFLER, P. A., HERZOG, R. W. & BYRNE, B. J. (2014). B-cell depletion is protective against anti-AAV capsid immune response: a human subject case study. *Molecular Therapy – Methods and Clinical Development* 1, 14033.
- CREMERS, F. P. M., VAN DEN HURK, J. A. J. M. & DEN HOLLANDER, A. I. (2002). Molecular genetics of Leber congenital amaurosis. *Human Molecular Genetics* 11, 1169–1176.
- CUI, W. & KAECH, S. M. (2010). Generation of effector CD8+ T cells and their conversion to memory T cells. *Immunological Reviews* 236, 151–166.
- CUNHA-VAZ, J., BERNARDES, R. & LOBO, C. (2011). Blood-retinal barrier. European Journal of Ophthalmology 21, 3–9.
- DALKARA, D., BYRNE, L. C., KLIMCZAK, R. R., VISEL, M., YIN, L., MERIGAN, W. H., FLANNERY, J. G. & SCHAFFER, D. V. (2013). In vivo-directed evolution of a new adeno-associated virus for therapeutic outer retinal gene delivery from the vitreous. *Science Translational Medicine* 5, 176–189.
- DERKSEN, R. H. W. M., SCHUURMAN, H. J., MEYLING, F. H. J. G., STRUYVENBERG, A. & KATER, L. (1984). The efficacy of plasma exchange in the removal of plasma components. *The Journal of Laboratory and Clinical Medicine* **104**, 346–354.
- DORAK, M. T. (2002). Basic immunology: functions and disorders of the immune system. *American Journal of Epidemiology* 155, 185-186.
- VON DRYGALSKI, A., GIERMASZ, A., CASTAMAN, G., KEY, N. S., LATTIMORE, S., LEEBEEK, F. W. G., MIESBACH, W., RECHT, M., LONG, A., GUT, R., SAWYER, E. K. & PIPE, S. W. (2019). Etranacogene dezaparvovec (AMT-061 phase 2b): normal/near normal FIX activity and bleed cessation in hemophilia B. *Blood Advances* 3, 3241–3247.
- ERICKSON, R. W., FRANKLIN, W. A. & EMLEN, W. (1994). Treatment of hemorrhagic lupus pneumonitis with plasmapheresis. *Seminars in Arthritis and Rheumatism* 24, 114–123.
- FERREIRA, V., TWISK, J., KWIKKERS, K., ARONICA, E., BRISSON, D., METHOT, J., PETRY, H. & GAUDET, D. (2014). Immune responses to intramuscular administration of alipogene tiparvovec (AAV1-LPLS447X) in a phase II Clinical trial of lipoprotein lipase deficiency gene therapy. *Human Gene Therapy* 25, 180–188.
- FEUER, W. J., SCHIFFMAN, J. C., DAVIS, J. L., PORCIATTI, V., GONZALEZ, P., KOILKONDA, R. D., YUAN, H., LALWANI, A., LAM, B. L. & GUY, J. (2016). Gene therapy for Leber hereditary optic neuropathy initial results. *Ophthalmology* 123, 558–570.
- FITZPATRICK, Z., LEBORGNE, C., BARBON, E., MASAT, E., RONZITTI, G., VAN WITTENBERGHE, L., VIGNAUD, A., COLLAUD, F., CHARLES, S., SIMON SOLA, M., JOUEN, F., BOYER, O. & MINGOZZI, F. (2018). Influence of preexisting anti-capsid neutralizing and binding antibodies on AAV vector transduction. *Molecular Therapy - Methods and Clinical Development* 9, 119–129.
- FLOTTE, T. R., TRAPNELL, B. C., HUMPHRIES, M., CAREY, B., CALCEDO, R., ROUHANI, F., CAMPBELL-THOMPSON, M., YACHNIS, A. T., SANDHAUS, R. A., MCELVANEY, N. G., MUELLER, C., MESSINA, L. M., WILSON, J. M., BRANTLY, M., KNOP, D. R., et al. (2011). Phase 2 clinical trial of a recombinant adeno-associated viral vector expressing α 1-antitrypsin: interim results. *Human Gene Therapy* 22, 1239–1247.
- GAO, K., LI, M., ZHONG, L., SU, Q., LI, J., LI, S., HE, R., ZHANG, Y., HENDRICKS, G., WANG, J. & GAO, G. (2014). Empty virions in AAV8 vector preparations reduce transduction efficiency and may cause total viral particle doselimiting side effects. *Molecular Therapy - Methods and Clinical Development* 1, 9.

Biological Reviews 96 (2021) 1616–1644 © 2021 The Authors. Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society.

- GAUDET, D., MÉTHOT, J., DÉRY, S., BRISSON, D., ESSIEMBRE, C., TREMBLAY, G., TREMBLAY, K., DE WAL, J., TWISK, J., VAN DEN BULK, N., SIER-FERREIRA, V. & VAN DEVENTER, S. (2013). Efficacy and long-term safety of alipogene tiparvovec (AAV1-LPL S447X) gene therapy for lipoprotein lipase deficiency: an open-label trial. *Gene Therapy* 20, 361–369.
- GERNOUX, G., WILSON, J. M. & MUELLER, C. (2017). Regulatory and exhausted T cell responses to AAV capsid. *Human Gene Therapy* 28, 338–349.
- GHAZI, N. G., ABBOUD, E. B., NOWILATY, S. R., ALKURAYA, H., ALHOMMADI, A., CAI, H., HOU, R., DENG, W. T., BOYE, S. L., ALMAGHAMSI, A., AL SAIKHAN, F., AL-DHIBI, H., BIRCH, D., CHUNG, C., COLAK, D., et al. (2016). Treatment of retinitis pigmentosa due to MERTK mutations by ocular subretinal injection of adeno-associated virus gene vector: results of a phase I trial. *Human Genetics* 135, 327–343.
- GRAY, S. J., FOTI, S. B., SCHWARTZ, J. W., BACHABOINA, L., TAYLOR-BLAKE, B., COLEMAN, J., EHLERS, M. D., ZYLKA, M. J., MCCOWN, T. J. & SAMULSKI, R. J. (2011). Optimizing promoters for recombinant adeno-associated virus-mediated gene expression in the peripheral and central nervous system using selfcomplementary vectors. *Human Gene Therapy* 22, 1143–1153.
- GRAY, S. J., NAGABHUSHAN KALBURGI, S., MCCOWN, T. J. & JUDE SAMULSKI, R. (2013). Global CNS gene delivery and evasion of anti-AAV-neutralizing antibodies by intrathecal AAV administration in non-human primates. *Gene Therapy* 20, 450–459.
- GREENBERG, B., BUTLER, J., FELKER, G. M., PONIKOWSKI, P., VOORS, A. A., POGODA, J. M., PROVOST, R., GUERRERO, J., HAJJAR, R. J. & ZSEBO, K. M. (2016). Prevalence of AAV1 neutralizing antibodies and consequences for a clinical trial of gene transfer for advanced heart failure. *Gene Therapy* 23, 313–319.
- GRIMM, D., LEE, J. S., WANG, L., DESAI, T., AKACHE, B., STORM, T. A. & KAY, M. A. (2008). In vitro and in vivo gene therapy vector evolution via multispecies interbreeding and retargeting of adeno-associated viruses. *Journal of Virology* 82, 5887–5911.
- GRISHANIN, R., VUILLEMENOT, B., SHARMA, P., KERAVALA, A., GREENGARD, J., GELFMAN, C., BLUMENKRANTZ, M., LAWRENCE, M., HU, W., KISS, S. & GASMI, M. (2019). Preclinical evaluation of ADVM-022, a novel gene therapy approach to treating wet age-related macular degeneration. *Molecular Therapy* 27, 118–129.
- DE GROOT, A. S., MOISE, L., MCMURRY, J. A., WAMBRE, E., VAN OVERTVELT, L., MOINGEON, P., SCOTT, D. W. & MARTIN, W. (2008). Activation of natural regulatory T cells by IgG Fc-derived peptide 'Tregitopes'. *Blood* **112**, 3303–3311.
- GUY, J., FEUER, W. J., DAVIS, J. L., PORCIATTI, V., GONZALEZ, P. J., KOILKONDA, R. D., YUAN, H., HAUSWIRTH, W. W. & LAM, B. L. (2017). Gene therapy for Leber hereditary optic neuropathy: low- and medium-dose visual results. *Ophthalmology* 124, 1621–1634.
- HALBERT, C. L., STANDAERT, T. A., WILSON, C. B. & MILLER, A. D. (1998). Successful readministration of adeno-associated virus vectors to the mouse lung requires transient immunosuppression during the initial exposure. *Journal of Virology* 72, 9795–9805.
- HAN, S. O., LI, S., BROOKS, E. D., MASAT, E., LEBORGNE, C., BANUGARIA, S., BIRD, A., MINGOZZI, F., WALDMANN, H. & KOEBERL, D. (2015). Enhanced efficacy from gene therapy in Pompe disease using coreceptor blockade. *Human Gene Therapy* 26, 26–35.
- HARWOOD, N. E. & BATISTA, F. D. (2008). New insights into the early molecular events underlying B cell activation. *Immunity* 28, 609–619.
- HASHIMOTO, G., WRIGHT, P. F. & KARZON, D. T. (1983). Antibody-dependent cellmediated cytotoxicity against influenza virus-infected cells. *Journal of Infectious Diseases* 148, 785–794.
- HASTIE, E. & SAMULSKI, R. J. (2015). Adeno-associated virus at 50: a golden anniversary of discovery, research, and gene therapy success - a personal perspective. *Human Gene Therapy* 26, 257–265.
- HAURIGOT, V., MARCÓ, S., RIBERA, A., GARCIA, M., RUZO, A., VILLACAMPA, P., AYUSO, E., AÑOR, S., ANDALUZ, A., PINEDA, M., GARCÍA-FRUCTUOSO, G., MOLAS, M., MAGGIONI, L., MUÑOZ, S., MOTAS, S., et al. (2013). Whole body correction of mucopolysaccharidosis IIIA by intracerebrospinal fluid gene therapy. *Journal of Clinical Investigation* 123, 3254–3271.
- HAUSWIRTH, W. W., ALEMAN, T. S., KAUSHAL, S., CIDECIYAN, A. V., SCHWARTZ, S. B., WANG, L., CONLON, T. J., BOYE, S. L., FLOTTE, T. R., BYRNE, B. J. & JACOBSON, S. G. (2008). Treatment of Leber congenital amaurosis due to RPE65 mutations by ocular subretinal injection of adeno-associated virus gene vector: short-term results of a phase I trial. *Human Gene Therapy* 19, 979–990.
- HE, R.-T., WANG, S., ANDERSON, R., INNIS, B. L., NISALAK, A., USAWATTANAKUL, W. & AND, S. K. (1995). Antibodies that block virus attachment to vero cells are a major component of the human neutralizing antibody response against dengue virus type 2. *Journal of Medical Virology* 45, 451–461.
- HEIER, J. S., KHERANI, S., DESAI, S., DUGEL, P., KAUSHAL, S., CHENG, S. H., DELACONO, C., PURVIS, A., RICHARDS, S., LE-HALPERE, A., CONNELLY, J., WADSWORTH, S. C., VARONA, R., BUGGAGE, R., SCARIA, A., et al. (2017).

Intravitreous injection of AAV2-sFLT01 in patients with advanced neovascular age-related macular degeneration: a phase 1, open-label trial. *The Lancet* **390**, 50–61.

- HERNANDEZ, R., PAREDES, A. & BROWN, D. T. (2008). Sindbis virus conformational changes induced by a neutralizing anti-E1 monoclonal antibody. *Journal of Virology* 82, 5750–5760.
- HERZOG, R. W., COOPER, M., PERRIN, G. Q., BISWAS, M., MARTINO, A. T., MOREL, L., TERHORST, C. & HOFFMAN, B. E. (2019). Regulatory T cells and TLR9 activation shape antibody formation to a secreted transgene product in AAV muscle gene transfer. *Cellular Immunology* 342, 103682.
- HINDERER, C., KATZ, N., BUZA, E. L., DYER, C., GOODE, T., BELL, P., RICHMAN, L. K. & WILSON, J. M. (2018). Severe toxicity in nonhuman primates and piglets following high-dose intravenous administration of an adeno-associated virus vector expressing human SMN. *Human Gene Therapy* 29, 285–298.
- HOANG THI, T. T., PILKINGTON, E. H., NGUYEN, D. H., LEE, J. S., PARK, K. D. & TRUONG, N. P. (2020). The importance of poly(ethylene glycol) alternatives for overcoming PEG immunogenicity in drug delivery and bioconjugation. *Polymers* 12, 298.
- HOFFMAN, W., LAKKIS, F. G. & CHALASANI, G. (2016). B cells, antibodies, and more. Clinical Journal of the American Society of Nephrology 11, 137–154.
- HORDEAUX, J., WANG, Q., KATZ, N., BUZA, E. L., BELL, P. & WILSON, J. M. (2018). The Neurotropic properties of AAV-PHP.B are limited to C57BL/6J mice. *Molecular Therapy* 26, 664–668.
- HÖSEL, M., BROXTERMANN, M., JANICKI, H., ESSER, K., ARZBERGER, S., HARTMANN, P., GILLEN, S., KLEEFF, J., STABENOW, D., ODENTHAL, M., KNOLLE, P., HALLEK, M., PROTZER, U. & BÜNING, H. (2012). Toll-like receptor 2-mediated innate immune response in human nonparenchymal liver cells toward adeno-associated viral vectors. *Hepatology* 55, 287–297.
- HUDRY, E., ANDRES-MATEOS, E., LERNER, E. P., VOLAK, A., COHEN, O., HYMAN, B. T., MAGUIRE, C. A. & VANDENBERGHE, L. H. (2018). Efficient gene transfer to the central nervous system by single-stranded Anc80L65. *Molecular Therapy - Methods and Clinical Development* 10, 197–209.
- HUDRY, E., MARTIN, C., GANDHI, S., GYÖRGY, B., SCHEFFER, D. I., MU, D., MERKEL, S. F., MINGOZZI, F., FITZPATRICK, Z., DIMANT, H., MASEK, M., RAGAN, T., TAN, S., BRISSON, A. R., RAMIREZ, S. H., et al. (2016). Exosomeassociated AAV vector as a robust and convenient neuroscience tool. *Gene Therapy* 23, 380–392.
- HUI, D. J., BASNER-TSCHAKARJAN, E., CHEN, Y., DAVIDSON, R. J., BUCHLIS, G., YAZICIOGLU, M., PIEN, G. C., FINN, J. D., HAURIGOT, V., TAI, A., SCOTT, D. W., COUSENS, L. P., ZHOU, S., DE GROOT, A. S. & MINGOZZI, F. (2013). Modulation of CD8 + T cell responses to AAV vectors with IgG-derived MHC class II epitopes. *Molecular Therapy* 21, 1727–1737.
- HUI, D. J., EDMONSON, S. C., PODSAKOFF, G. M., PIEN, G. C., IVANCIU, L., CAMIRE, R. M., ERTL, H., MINGOZZI, F., HIGH, K. A. & BASNER-TSCHAKARJAN, E. (2015). AAV capsid CD8+ T-cell epitopes are highly conserved across AAV serotypes. *Molecular Therapy - Methods and Clinical Development* 2, 15029.
- IM, D. S. & MUZYCZKA, N. (1990). The AAV origin binding protein Rep68 is an ATPdependent site-specific endonuclease with DNA helicase activity. *Cell* 61, 447–457.
- ISHII, Y., TANAKA, K., KONDO, K., TAKEUCHI, T., MORI, S. & KANDA, T. (2010). Inhibition of nuclear entry of HPV16 pseudovirus-packaged DNA by an anti-HPV16 L2 neutralizing antibody. *Virology* **406**, 181–188.
- JACKSON, K. L., DAYTON, R. D. & KLEIN, R. L. (2015). AAV9 supports wide-scale transduction of the CNS and TDP-43 disease modeling in adult rats. *Molecular Therapy - Methods and Clinical Development* 2, 15036.
- JACOBSON, S. G., CIDECIYAN, A. V., RATNAKARAM, R., HEON, E., SCHWARTZ, S. B., ROMAN, A. J., PEDEN, M. C., ALEMAN, T. S., BOYE, S. L., SUMAROKA, A., CONLON, T. J., CALCEDO, R., PANG, J. J., ERGER, K. E., OLIVARES, M. B., et al. (2012). Gene therapy for leber congenital amaurosis caused by RPE65 mutations: safety and efficacy in 15 children and adults followed up to 3 years. Archives of Ophthalmology 130, 9–24.
- JANEWAY, C. A. JR., TRAVERS, P. & WALPORT, M. (2001). Chapter 8 T cell-mediated immunity. In *Immunobiology: The Immune System in Health and Disease*, 5th Edition. Garland Science, New York.
- JAYANDHARAN, G. R., ASLANIDI, G., MARTINO, A. T., JAHN, S. C., PERRIN, G. Q., HERZOG, R. W. & SRIVASTAVA, A. (2011). Activation of the NF-κB pathway by adeno-associated virus (AAV) vectors and its implications in immune response and gene therapy. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **108**, 3743–3748.
- JORDAN, S. C., LORANT, T., CHOI, J., KJELLMAN, C., WINSTEDT, L., BENGTSSON, M., ZHANG, X., EICH, T., TOYODA, M., ERIKSSON, B.-M., GE, S., PENG, A., JÄRNUM, S., WOOD, K. J., LUNDGREN, T., et al. (2017). IgG Endopeptidase in highly sensitized patients undergoing transplantation. *New England Journal of Medicine* 377, 442–453.
- KARMAN, J., GUMLAW, N. K., ZHANG, J., JIANG, J.-L., CHENG, S. H. & ZHU, Y. (2012). Proteasome inhibition is partially effective in attenuating pre-existing immunity against recombinant adeno-associated viral vectors. *PLoS One* 7, 34684.

KEINO, H., HORIE, S. & SUGITA, S. (2018). Immune privilege and eye-derived Tregulatory cells. *Tournal of Immunology Research* **2018**, 1–12.

- KELICH, J. M., MA, J., DONG, B., WANG, Q., CHIN, M., MAGURA, C. M., XIAO, W. & YANG, W. (2015). Super-resolution imaging of nuclear import of adeno-associated virus in live cells. *Molecular Therapy - Methods & Clinical Development* 2, 15047.
- KHABOU, H., CORDEAU, C., PACOT, L., FISSON, S. & DALKARA, D. (2018). Dosage thresholds and influence of transgene cassette in adeno-associated virus-related toxicity. *Human Gene Therapy* 29, 1235–1241.
- KLASSE, P. J., SANDERS, R. W., CERUTTI, A. & MOORE, J. P. (2012). How can HIVtype-1-Env immunogenicity be improved to facilitate antibody-based vaccine development? *AIDS Research and Human Retroviruses* 28, 1–15.
- KLASSE, P. J. & SATTENTAU, Q. J. (2002). Occupancy and mechanism in antibodymediated neutralization of animal viruses. *Journal of General Virology* 83, 2091–2108.
- KOTTERMAN, M. A. & SCHAFFER, D. V. (2014). Engineering adeno-associated viruses for clinical gene therapy. *Nature Reviews Genetics* 15, 445–451.
- KOTTERMAN, M. A., YIN, L., STRAZZERI, J. M., FLANNERY, J. G., MERIGAN, W. H. & SCHAFFER, D. V. (2015). Antibody neutralization poses a barrier to intravitreal adeno-associated viral vector gene delivery to non-human primates. *Gene Therapy* 22, 116–126.
- KRUZIK, A., FETAHAGIC, D., HARTLIEB, B., DORN, S., KOPPENSTEINER, H., HORLING, F. M., SCHEIFLINGER, F., REIPERT, B. M. & DE LA ROSA, M. (2019). Prevalence of anti-adeno-associated virus immune responses in international cohorts of healthy donors. *Molecular Therapy - Methods and Clinical Development* 14, 126–133.
- KURANDA, K., JEAN-ALPHONSE, P., LEBORGNE, C., HARDET, R., COLLAUD, F., MARMIER, S., VERDERA, H. C., RONZITTI, G., VERON, P. & MINGOZZI, F. (2018). Exposure to wild-type AAV drives distinct capsid immunity profiles in humans. *Journal of Clinical Investigation* 128, 5267–5279.
- LAUGHLIN, C. A., WESTPHAL, H. & CARTER, B. J. (1979). Spliced adenovirusassociated virus RNA. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 76, 5567–5571.
- LEANDRO, M. J. (2013). B-cell subpopulations in humans and their differential susceptibility to depletion with anti-CD20 monoclonal antibodies. Arthritis Research & Therapy 15, S3.
- LEBORGNE, C., BARBON, E., ALEXANDER, J. M., HANBY, H., DELIGNAT, S., COHEN, D. M., COLLAUD, F., MURALEETHARAN, S., LUPO, D., SILVERBERG, J., HUANG, K., VAN WITTENGERGHE, L., MAROLLEAU, B., MIRANDA, A., FABIANO, A., et al. (2020). IgG-cleaving endopeptidase enables in vivo gene therapy in the presence of anti-AAV neutralizing antibodies. *Nature Medicine* 26, 1096–1101.
- LEE, G. K., MAHESHRI, N., KASPAR, B. & SCHAFFER, D. V. (2005). PEG conjugation moderately protects adeno-associated viral vectors against antibody neutralization. *Biotechnology and Bioengineering* 92, 24–34.
- LE MEUR, G., LEBRANCHU, P., BILLAUD, F., ADJALI, O., SCHMITT, S., BÉZIEAU, S., PÉRÉON, Y., VALABREGUE, R., IVAN, C., DARMON, C., MOULLIER, P., ROLLING, F. & WEBER, M. (2018). Safety and long-term efficacy of AAV4 gene therapy in patients with RPE65 Leber Congenital Amaurosis. *Molecular Therapy* 26, 256–268.
- LEVIN, L. A. & GORDON, L. K. (2002). Retinal ganglion cell disorders: types and treatments. *Progress in Retinal and Eye Research* 21, 465–484.
- LI, Q., MILLER, R., HAN, P.-Y., PANG, J., DINCULESCU, A., CHIODO, V. & HAUSWIRTH, W. W. (2008). Intraocular route of AAV2 vector administration defines humoral immune response and therapeutic potential. *Molecular Vision* 14, 1760–1769.
- LOWES, L. P., ALFANO, L. N., ARNOLD, W. D., SHELL, R., PRIOR, T. W., MCCOLLY, M., LEHMAN, K. J., CHURCH, K., SPROULE, D. M., NAGENDRAN, S., MENIER, M., FELTNER, D. E., WELLS, C., KISSEL, J. T., AL-ZAIDY, S., et al. (2019). Impact of age and motor function in a phase 1/2A study of infants with SMA Type 1 receiving single-dose gene replacement therapy. *Pediatric Neurology* **98**, 39–45.
- MACAULEY, M. S., PFRENGLE, F., RADEMACHER, C., NYCHOLAT, C. M., GALE, A. J., VON DRYGALSKI, A. & PAULSON, J. C. (2013). Antigenic liposomes displaying CD22 ligands induce antigen-specific B cell apoptosis. *Journal of Clinical Investigation* 123, 3074–3083.
- MAGUIRE, A. M., HIGH, K. A., AURICCHIO, A., WRIGHT, J. F., PIERCE, E. A., TESTA, F., MINGOZZI, F., BENNICELLI, J. L., YING, G., ROSSI, S., FULTON, A., MARSHALL, K. A., BANFI, S., CHUNG, D. C., MORGAN, J. I., et al. (2009). Agedependent effects of RPE65 gene therapy for Leber's congenital amaurosis: a phase 1 dose-escalation trial. *The Lancet* **374**, 1597–1605.
- MAGUIRE, A. M., RUSSELL, S., WELLMAN, J. A., CHUNG, D. C., YU, Z. F., TILLMAN, A., WITTES, J., PAPPAS, J., ELCI, O., MARSHALL, K. A., MCCAGUE, S., REICHERT, H., DAVIS, M., SIMONELLI, F., LEROY, B. P., et al. (2019). Efficacy, safety, and durability of voretigene neparvovec-rzyl in RPE65 mutation-associated inherited retinal dystrophy: results of phase 1 and 3 trials. Ophthalmology 126, 1273–1285.
- MAGUIRE, A. M., SIMONELLI, F., PIERCE, E. A., PUGH, E. N., MINGOZZI, F., BENNICELLI, J., BANFI, S., MARSHALL, K. A., TESTA, F., SURACE, E. M., ROSSI, S., LYUBARSKY, A., ARRUDA, V. R., KONKLE, B., STONE, E., et al. (2008).

Safety and efficacy of gene transfer for Leber's congenital amaurosis. *New England Journal of Medicine* **358**, 2240–2248.

- MALLERY, D. L., MCEWAN, W. A., BIDGOOD, S. R., TOWERS, G. J., JOHNSON, C. M. & JAMES, L. C. (2010). Antibodies mediate intracellular immunity through tripartite motif-containing 21 (TRIM21). Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 107, 19985–19990.
- MANNO, C. S., ÅRRUDA, V. R., PIERCE, G. F., GLADER, B., RAGNI, M., RASKO, J., OZELO, M. C., HOOTS, K., BLATT, P., KONKLE, B., DAKE, M., KAYE, R., RAZAVI, M., ZAJKO, A., ZEHNDER, J., et al. (2006). Successful transduction of liver in hemophilia by AAV-Factor IX and limitations imposed by the host immune response. *Nature Medicine* 12, 342–347.
- MANNO, C. S., CHEW, A. J., HUTCHISON, S., LARSON, P. J., HERZOG, R. W., ARRUDA, V. R., TAI, S. J., RAGNI, M. V., THOMPSON, A., OZELO, M., COUTO, L. B., LEONARD, D. G. B., JOHNSON, F. A., MCCLELLAND, A., SCALLAN, C., et al. (2003). AAV-mediated factor IX gene transfer to skeletal muscle in patients with severe hemophilia B. *Blood* 101, 2963–2972.
- MARTÍNEZ-ALCANTAR, L., TALAVERA-CARRILLO, D. K., PINEDA-SALAZAR, J. U., ÁVALOS-VIVEROS, M., GUTTÉRREZ-OSPINA, G., PHILLIPS-FARFÁN, B. V., FUENTES-FARÍAS, A. L. & MELÉNDEZ-HERRERA, E. (2019). Anterior chamber associated immune deviation to cytosolic neural antigens avoids self-reactivity after optic nerve injury and polarizes the retinal environment to an anti-inflammatory profile. *Journal of Neuroimmunology* 333, 476964.
- MAURER, A. C., PACOURET, S., CEPEDA DIAZ, A. K., BLAKE, J., ANDRES-MATEOS, E. & VANDENBERGHE, L. H. (2018). The assembly-activating protein promotes stability and interactions between AAV's viral proteins to nucleate capsid assembly. *Cell Reports* 23, 1817–1830.
- MAYS, L. E., WANG, L., LIN, J., BELL, P., CRAWFORD, A., WHERRY, E. J. & WILSON, J. M. (2014). AAV8 induces tolerance in murine muscle as a result of poor APC transduction, T cell exhaustion, and minimal MHCI upregulation on target cells. *Molecular Therapy* 22, 28–41.
- MAYS, L. E., WANG, L., TENNEY, R., BELL, P., NAM, H.-J., LIN, J., GURDA, B., VAN VLIET, K., MIKALS, K., AGBANDJE-MCKENNA, M. & WILSON, J. M. (2013). Mapping the structural determinants responsible for enhanced T cell activation to the immunogenic adeno-associated virus capsid from isolate Rhesus 32.33. *Journal* of Virology 87, 9473–9485.
- MCINTOSH, J. H., COCHRANE, M., COBBOLD, S., WALDMANN, H., NATHWANI, S. A., DAVIDOFF, A. M. & NATHWANI, A. C. (2012). Successful attenuation of humoral immunity to viral capsid and transgenic protein following AAV-mediated gene transfer with a non-depleting CD4 antibody and cyclosporine. *Gene Therapy* 19, 78–85.
- MCLAUGHLIN, S. K., COLLIS, P., HERMONAT, P. L. & MUZYCZKA, N. (1988). Adenoassociated virus general transduction vectors: analysis of proviral structures. *Journal of Virology* 62, 1963–1973.
- MCPHEE, S. W. J., JANSON, C. G., LI, C., SAMULSKI, R. J., CAMP, A. S., FRANCIS, J., SHERA, D., LIOUTERMANN, L., FEELY, M., FREESE, A. & LEONE, P. (2006). Immune responses to AAV in a phase I study for Canavan disease. *Journal of Gene Medicine* 8, 577–588.
- MELIANI, A., BOISGERAULT, F., FITZPATRICK, Z., MARMIER, S., LEBORGNE, C., COLLAUD, F., SOLA, M. S., CHARLES, S., RONZITTI, G., VIGNAUD, A., VAN WITTENBERGHE, L., MAROLLEAU, B., JOUEN, F., TAN, S., BOYER, O., et al. (2017). Enhanced liver gene transfer and evasion of preexisting humoral immunity with exosome-enveloped AAV vectors. *Blood Advances* 1, 2019–2031.
- MELIANI, A., BOISGERAULT, F., HARDET, R., MARMIER, S., COLLAUD, F., RONZITTI, G., LEBORGNE, C., COSTA VERDERA, H., SIMON SOLA, M., CHARLES, S., VIGNAUD, A., VAN WITTENBERGHE, L., MANNI, G., CHRISTOPHE, O., FALLARINO, F., et al. (2018). Antigen-selective modulation of AAV immunogenicity with tolerogenic rapamycin nanoparticles enables successful vector re-administration. *Nature Communications* 9, 4098.
- MELIANI, A., LEBORGNE, C., TRIFFAULT, S., JEANSON-LEH, L., VERON, P. & MINGOZZI, F. (2015). Determination of anti-adeno-associated virus vector neutralizing antibody titer with an in vitro reporter system. *Human Gene Therapy Methods* 26, 45–53.
- MENDELL, J. R., AL-ZAIDY, S., SHELL, R., ARNOLD, W. D., RODINO-KLAPAC, L. R., PRIOR, T. W., LOWES, L., ALFANO, L., BERRY, K., CHURCH, K., KISSEL, J. T., NAGENDRAN, S., L'ITALIEN, J., SPROULE, D. M., WELLS, C., et al. (2017). Single-dose gene-replacement therapy for spinal muscular atrophy. *New England Journal of Medicine* 377, 1713–1722.
- MENDELL, J. R., CAMPBELL, K., RODINO-KLAPAC, L., SAHENK, Z., SHILLING, C., LEWIS, S., BOWLES, D., GRAY, S., LI, C., GALLOWAY, G., MALIK, V., COLEY, B., CLARK, K. R., LI, J., XIAO, X., et al. (2010). Dystrophin immunity in Duchenne's Muscular Dystrophy. *New England Journal of Medicine* 363, 1429–1437.
- MIESBACH, W., MEIJER, K., COPPENS, M., KAMPMANN, P., KLAMROTH, R., SCHUTCENS, R., TANGELDER, M., CASTAMAN, G., SCHWÄBLE, J., BONIG, H., SEIFRIED, E., CATTANEO, F., MEYER, C. & LEEBEEK, F. W. G. (2018). Gene therapy with adeno-associated virus vector 5-human factor IX in adults with hemophilia B. Blood 131, 1022–1031.

Biological Reviews 96 (2021) 1616–1644 © 2021 The Authors. Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society.

- MINGOZZI, F., ANGUELA, X. M., PAVANI, G., CHEN, Y., DAVIDSON, R. J., HUI, D. J., YAZICIOGLU, M., ELKOUBY, L., HINDERER, C. J., FAELLA, A., HOWARD, C., TAI, A., PODSAKOFF, G. M., ZHOU, S., BASNER-TSCHAKARJAN, E., et al. (2013a). Overcoming preexisting humoral immunity to AAV using capsid decoys. *Science Translational Medicine* 5, 192–194.
- MINGOZZI, F., CHEN, Y., EDMONSON, S. C., ZHOU, S., THURLINGS, R. M., TAK, P. P., HIGH, K. A. & VERVOORDELDONK, M. J. (2013b). Prevalence and pharmacological modulation of humoral immunity to AAV vectors in gene transfer to synovial tissue. *Gene Therapy* 20, 417–424.
- MINGOZZI, F., CHEN, Y., MURPHY, S. L., EDMONSON, S. C., TAI, A., PRICE, S. D., METZGER, M. E., ZHOU, S., WRIGHT, J. F., DONAHUE, R. E., DUNBAR, C. E. & HIGH, K. A. (2012). Pharmacological modulation of humoral immunity in a nonhuman primate model of AAV gene transfer for hemophilia B. *Molecular Therapy* 20, 1410–1416. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/mt.2012.84.
- MINGOZZI, F., MAUS, M. V., HUI, D. J., SABATINO, D. E., MURPHY, S. L., RASKO, J. E. J., RAGNI, M. V., MANNO, C. S., SOMMER, J., JIANG, H., PIERCE, G. F., ERTL, H. C. J. & HIGH, K. A. (2007). CD18+ T-cell responses to adeno-associated virus capsid in humans. *Nature Medicine* 13, 419–422.
- MINGOZZI, F., MEULENBERG, J. J., HUI, D. J., BASNER-TSCHAKARJAN, E., HASBROUCK, N. C., EDMONSON, S. A., HUTNICK, N. A., BETTS, M. R., KASTELEIN, J. J., STROES, E. S. & HIGH, K. A. (2009). AAV-1-mediated gene transfer to skeletal muscle in humans results in dose-dependent activation of capsid-specific T cells. *Blood* 114, 2077–2086.
- MOGENSEN, T. H. (2009). Pathogen recognition and inflammatory signaling in innate immune defenses. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews* 22, 240–273.
- MOIANI, A., PALEARI, Y., SARTORI, D., MEZZADRA, R., MICCIO, A., CATTOGLIO, C., COCCHIARELLA, F., LIDONNICI, M. R., FERRARI, G. & MAVILIO, F. (2012). Lentiviral vector integration in the human genome induces alternative splicing and generates aberrant transcripts. *Journal of Clinical Investigation* 122, 1653–1666.
- MONAHAN, P. É., SUN, J., GUI, T., HU, G., HANNAH, W. B., WICHLAN, D. G., WU, Z., GRIEGER, J. C., LI, C., SUWANMANEE, T., STAFFORD, D. W., BOOTH, C. J., SAMULSKI, J. J., KAFRI, T., MCPHEE, S. W. J., et al. (2015). Employing a gain-of-function factor IX variant R338L to advance the efficacy and safety of hemophilia B human gene therapy: preclinical evaluation supporting an ongoing adeno-associated virus clinical trial. *Human Gene Therapy* 26, 69–81.
- MONTEILHET, V., SAHEB, S., BOUTIN, S., LEBORGNE, C., VERON, P., MONTUS, M. F., MOULLIER, P., BENVENISTE, O. & MASURIER, C. (2011). A 10 patient case report on the impact of plasmapheresis upon neutralizing factors against adeno-associated virus (AAV) types 1, 2, 6, and 8. *Molecular Therapy* 19, 2084–2091.
- MOSKALENKO, M., CHEN, L., VAN ROEY, M., DONAHUE, B. A., SNYDER, R. O., MCARTHUR, J. G. & PATEL, S. D. (2000). Epitope mapping of human anti-adenoassociated virus type 2 neutralizing antibodies: implications for gene therapy and virus structure. *Journal of Virology* 74, 1761–1766.
- MUELLER, C., CHULAY, J. D., TRAPNELL, B. C., HUMPHRIES, M., CAREY, B., SANDHAUS, R. A., MCELVANEY, N. G., MESSINA, L., TANG, Q., ROUHANI, F. N., CAMPBELL-THOMPSON, M., FU, A. D., YACHNIS, A., KNOP, D. R., YE, G. J., et al. (2013). Human Treg responses allow sustained recombinant adeno-associated virusmediated transgene expression. *Journal of Clinical Investigation* **123**, 5310–5318.
- MÜLLER, J. & NITSCHKE, L. (2014). The role of CD22 and Siglec-G in B-cell tolerance and autoimmune disease. *Nature Reviews Rheumatology* **10**, 422.
- MURAMATSU, M., KINOSHITA, K., FAGARASAN, S., YAMADA, S., SHINKAI, Y. & HONJO, T. (2000). Class switch recombination and hypermutation require activation-induced cytidine deaminase (AID), a potential RNA editing enzyme. *Cell* **102**, 553–563.
- MURPHY, S. L., LI, H., MINGOZZI, F., SABATINO, D. E., HUI, D. J., EDMONSON, S. A. & HIGH, K. A. (2009). Diverse IgG subclass responses to adenoassociated virus infection and vector administration. *Journal of Medical Virology* 81, 65–74.
- NATHWANI, A. C., TUDDENHAM, E. G. D., RANGARAJAN, S., ROSALES, C., MCINTOSH, J., LINCH, D. C., CHOWDARY, P., RIDDELL, A., PIE, A. J., HARRINGTON, C., O'BEIRNE, J., SMITH, K., PASI, J., GLADER, B., RUSTAGI, P., et al. (2011). Adenovirus-associated virus vector-mediated gene transfer in hemophilia B. New England Journal of Medicine 365, 2357–2365.
- NAULT, J. C., DATTA, S., IMBEAUD, S., FRANCONI, A., MALLET, M., COUCHY, G., LETOUZÉ, E., PILATI, C., VERRET, B., BLANC, J. F., BALABAUD, C., CALDERARO, J., LAURENT, A., LETEXIER, M., BIOULAC-SAGE, P., et al. (2015). Recurrent AAV2-related insertional mutagenesis in human hepatocellular carcinomas. *Nature Genetics* 47, 1187–1193.
- NAULT, J. C., MAMI, I., LA BELLA, T., DATTA, S., IMBEAUD, S., FRANCONI, A., MAILET, M., COUCHY, G., LETOUZÉ, E., PILATI, C., VERRET, B., BLANC, J. F., BALABAUD, C., CALDERARO, J., LAURENT, A., et al. (2016) Wild-type AAV Insertions in Hepatocellular Carcinoma Do Not Inform Debate Over Genotoxicity Risk of Vectorized AAV. *Molecular Therapp*, 24 (4), 660–661. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1038/mt.2016.47.
- NAYAK, S. & HERZOG, R. W. (2010). Progress and prospects: immune responses to viral vectors. *Gene Therapy* 17, 295–304.

- NIDETZ, N. F., MCGEE, M. C., TSE, L. V., LI, C., CONG, L., LI, Y. & HUANG, W. (2020). Adeno-associated viral vector-mediated immune responses: understanding barriers to gene delivery. *Pharmacology & Therapeutics* 207, 107453.
- PENNOCK, N. D., WHITE, J. T., CROSS, E. W., CHENEY, E. E., TAMBURINI, B. A. & KEDL, R. M. (2013). T cell responses: naïve to memory and everything in between. *American Journal of Physiology - Advances in Physiology Education* 37, 273–283.
- PIEN, G. C., BASNER-TSCHAKARJAN, E., HUI, D. J., MENTLIK, A. N., FINN, J. D., HASBROUCK, N. C., ZHOU, S., MURPHY, S. L., MAUS, M. V., MINGOZZI, F., ORANGE, J. S. & HIGH, K. A. (2009). Capsid antigen presentation flags human hepatocytes for destruction after transduction by adeno-associated viral vectors. *Journal of Clinical Investigation* 119, 1688–1695.
- PILLAY, S., MEYER, N. L., PUSCHNIK, A. S., DAVULCU, O., DIEP, J., ISHIKAWA, Y., JAE, L. T., WOSEN, J. E., NAGAMINE, C. M., CHAPMAN, M. S. & CARETTE, J. E. (2016). An essential receptor for adeno-associated virus infection. *Nature* 530, 108–112.
- RAKOCZY, E. P., LAI, C. M., MAGNO, A. L., WIKSTROM, M. E., FRENCH, M. A., PIERCE, C. M., SCHWARTZ, S. D., BLUMENKRANZ, M. S., CHALBERG, T. W., DEGLI-ESPOSTI, M. A. & CONSTABLE, I. J. (2015). Gene therapy with recombinant adeno-associated vectors for neovascular age-related macular degeneration: 1 year follow-up of a phase 1 randomised clinical trial. *The Lancet* 386, 2395–2403.
- RAO, V. K., KAPP, D. & SCHROTH, M. (2018). Gene therapy for spinal muscular atrophy: an emerging treatment option for a devastating disease. *Journal of Managed Care and Specialty Pharmacy* 24, S3–S16.
- ROGERS, G. L., SHIRLEY, J. L., ZOLOTUKHIN, I., KUMAR, S. R. P., SHERMAN, A., PERRIN, G. Q., HOFFMAN, B. E., SRIVASTAVA, A., BASNER-TSCHAKARJAN, E., WALLET, M. A., TERHORST, C., BISWAS, M. & HERZOG, R. W. (2017). Plasmacytoid and conventional dendritic cells cooperate in crosspriming AAV capsid-specific CD8+ T cells. *Blood* **129**, 3184–3195.
- ROSE, J. A., BERNS, K. I., HOGGAN, M. D. & KOCZOT, F. J. (1969). Evidence for a single-stranded adenovirus-associated virus genome: formation of a DNA density hybrid on release of viral DNA. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the* United States of America 64, 863–869.
- DE ROSNY, E., VASSELL, R., JIANG, S., KUNERT, R. & WEISS, C. D. (2004). Binding of the 2F5 monoclonal antibody to native and fusion-intermediate forms of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 gp41: implications for fusion-inducing conformational changes. *Journal of Virology* 78, 2627–2631.
- ROSSI, A., DUPATY, L., AILLOT, L., ZHANG, L., GALLIEN, C., HALLEK, M., ODENTHAL, M., ADRIOUCH, S., SALVETTI, A. & BÜNING, H. (2019). Vector uncoating limits adeno-associated viral vector-mediated transduction of human dendritic cells and vector immunogenicity. *Scientific Reports* 9, 3631.
- RUGGERI, F. M. & GREENBERG, H. B. (1991). Antibodies to the trypsin cleavage peptide VP8 neutralize rotavirus by inhibiting binding of virions to target cells in culture. *Journal of Virology* 65, 2211–2219.
- RUSSELL, S., BENNETT, J., WELLMAN, J. A., CHUNG, D. C., YU, Z. F., TILLMAN, A., WITTES, J., PAPPAS, J., ELCI, O., MCCAGUE, S., CROSS, D., MARSHALL, K. A., WALSHIRE, J., KEHOE, T. L., REICHERT, H., et al. (2017). Efficacy and safety of voretigene neparvovec (AAV2-hRPE65v2) in patients with RPE65-mediated inherited retinal dystrophy: a randomised, controlled, open-label, phase 3 trial. *The Lancet* 390, 849–860.
- SAILAJA, G., HOGENESCH, H., NORTH, A., HAYS, J. & MITTAL, S. K. (2002). Encapsulation of recombinant adenovirus into alginate microspheres circumvents vector specific immune response. *Gene Therapy* 9, 1722–1729.
- SAMARANCH, L., PÉREZ-CAÑAMÁS, A., SOTO-HUELIN, B., SUDHAKAR, V., JURADO-ARJONA, J., HADACZEK, P., ÁVILA, J., BRINGAS, J. R., CASAS, J., CHEN, H., HE, X., SCHUCHMAN, E. H., CHENG, S. H., FORSAYETH, J., BANKIEWICZ, K. S., et al. (2019). Adeno-associated viral vector serotype 9–based gene therapy for Niemann-Pick disease type A. Science Translational Medicine 11, 3738.
- SAMULSKI, R. J. & MUZYCZKA, N. (2014). AAV-mediated gene therapy for research and therapeutic purposes. *Annual Review of Virology* 1, 427–451.
- SATO, D. K., CALLEGARO, D., LANA-PEIXOTO, M. A., WATERS, P. J., DE HAIDAR JORGE, F. M., TAKAHASHI, T., NAKASHIMA, I., APOSTOLOS-PEREIRA, S. L., SIMM, N. T. R. F., LINO, A. M. M., MISU, T., LEITE, M. I., AOKI, M. & FUJIHARA, K. (2014). Distinction between MOG antibodypositive and AQP4 antibody-positive NMO spectrum disorders. *Neurology* 82, 474–481.
- SCHMALJOHN, A. (2013). Protective antiviral antibodies that lack neutralizing activity: precedents and evolution of concepts. *Current HIV Research* 11, 345–353.
- SHAHRYARI, A., SAGHAEIAN JAZI, M., MOHAMMADI, S., RAZAVI NIKOO, H., NAZARI, Z., HOSSEINI, E. S., BURTSCHER, I., MOWLA, S. J. & LICKERT, H. (2019). Development and clinical translation of approved gene therapy products for genetic disorders. *Frontiers in Genetics* **10**, 868.
- SHAO, W., EARLEY, L. F., CHAI, Z., CHEN, X., SUN, J., HE, T., DENG, M., HIRSCH, M. L., TING, J., SAMULSKI, R. J. & LI, C. (2018). Double-stranded RNA innate immune response activation from long-term adeno-associated virus vector transduction. *JCI Insight* 3, 120474.
- SHIRLEY, J. L., KEELER, G. D., SHERMAN, A., ZOLOTUKHIN, I., MARKUSIC, D. M., HOFFMAN, B. E., MOREL, L. M., WALLET, M. A., TERHORST, C. &

HERZOG, R. W. (2020). Type I IFN sensing by cDCs and CD4+ T cell help are both requisite for cross-priming of AAV capsid-specific CD8+ T cells. *Molecular Therapy* 28, 758–770.

- SHLOMCHIK, M. J. & WEISEL, F. (2012). Germinal center selection and the development of memory B and plasma cells. *Immunological Reviews* 247, 52–63.
- SKUPSKY, J., SU, Y., LEI, T.-C. & SCOTT, D. (2007). Tolerance induction by gene transfer to lymphocytes. *Current Gene Therapy* 7, 369–380.
- SMITH, M. R. (2003). Rituximab (monoclonal anti-CD20 antibody): mechanisms of action and resistance. *Oncogene* 22, 7359–7368.
- SRIVASTAVA, A. (2016). In vivo tissue-tropism of adeno-associated viral vectors. Current Opinion in Virology 21, 75–80.
- SRIVASTAVA, A., LUSBY, E. W. & BERNS, K. I. (1983). Nucleotide sequence and organization of the adeno-associated virus 2 genome. *Journal of Virology* 45, 555–564.
- STROES, E. S., NIERMAN, M. C., MEULENBERG, J. J., FRANSSEN, R., TWISK, J., HENNY, C. P., MAAS, M. M., ZWINDERMAN, A. H., ROSS, C., ARONICA, E., HIGH, K. A., LEVI, M. M., HAYDEN, M. R., KASTELEIN, J. J. & KUIVENHOVEN, J. A. (2008). Intramuscular administration of AAV1-lipoprotein lipaseS447X lowers triglycerides in lipoprotein lipase-deficient patients. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology* 28, 2303–2304.
- SUZUKI, M., BERTIN, T. K., ROGERS, G. L., CELA, R. G., ZOLOTUKHIN, I., PALMER, D. J., NG, P., HERZOG, R. W. & LEE, B. (2013). Differential type i interferon-dependent transgene silencing of helper-dependent adenoviral vs. adeno-associated viral vectors in vivo. *Molecular Therapy* 21, 796–805.
- TARDIEU, M., ZÉRAH, M., GOUGEON, M. L., AUSSEIL, J., DE BOURNONVILLE, S., HUSSON, B., ZAFEIRIOU, D., PARENTI, G., BOURGET, P., POIRIER, B., FURLAN, V., ARTAUD, C., BAUGNON, T., ROUJEAU, T., CRYSTAL, R. G., et al. (2017). Intracerebral gene therapy in children with mucopolysaccharidosis type IIIB syndrome: an uncontrolled phase 1/2 clinical trial. *The Lancet Neurology* 16, 712–720.
- TAY, M. Z., WIEHE, K. & POLLARA, J. (2019). Antibody dependent cellular phagocytosis in antiviral immune responses. *Frontiers in Immunology* 10, 332.
- TAYLOR, A. W. (2009). Ocular immune privilege. *Eye* 23, 1885–1889. TELLIER, J. & NUTT, S. L. (2019). Plasma cells: the programming of an antibody-
- secreting machine. European journal of Immunology **49**, 0000-037.
- THOMAS, M. D., SRIVASTAVA, B. & ALLMAN, D. (2006). Regulation of peripheral B cell maturation. *Cellular Immunology* **239**, 92–102.
- THWAITE, R., PAGÈS, G., CHILLÓN, M. & BOSCH, A. (2015). AAVrh.10 immunogenicity in mice and humans. Relevance of antibody cross-reactivity in human gene therapy. *Gene Therapy* 22, 196–201.
- TIMMERS, A. M., NEWMARK, J. A., TURUNEN, H. T., FARIVAR, T., LIU, J., SONG, C., YE, G. J., PENNOCK, S., GASKIN, C., KNOP, D. R. & SHEARMAN, M. S. (2020). Ocular inflammatory response to intravitreal injection of adeno-associated virus vector: relative contribution of genome and capsid. *Human Gene Therapy* **31**, 80–89.

TSE, L. V., MOLLER-TANK, S. & ASOKAN, A. (2015). Strategies to circumvent humoral immunity to adeno-associated viral vectors. *Expert Opinion on Biological Therapy* 15, 845–855.

- TSE, L. V., KLINC, K. A., MADIGAN, V. J., RIVERA, R. M. C., WELLS, L. F., HAVLIK, L. P., SMITH, J. K., AGBANDJE-MCKENNA, M. & ASOKAN, A. (2017). Structure-guided evolution of antigenically distinct adeno-associated virus variants for immune evasion. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 114, E4812–E4821.
- UNZU, C., HERVÁS-STUBBS, S., SAMPEDRO, A., MAULEÓN, I., MANCHEÑO, U., ALFARO, C., DE SALAMANCA, R., BENITO, A., BEATTIE, S. G., PETRY, H., PRIETO, J., MELERO, I. & FONTANELLAS, A. (2012). Transient and intensive pharmacological immunosuppression fails to improve AAV-based liver gene transfer in non-human primates. *Journal of Translational Medicine* 10, 122.
- VANDAMME, C., ADJALI, O. & MINGOZZI, F. (2017). Unraveling the complex story of immune responses to AAV vectors trial after trial. *Human Gene Therapy* 28, 1061–1074.
- VANDENBERGHE, L. H. (2010). 368. Optimizing liver transduction of the low seroprevalent AAV rh32.33. Molecular Therapy 18, S142–S143.
- VANDENBERGHE, L. H. (2019). AAV engineering identifies a species barrier that highlights a portal to the brain. *Molecular Therapy* 27, 901–903.

- VELAZQUEZ, V. M., MEADOWS, A. S., PINEDA, R. J., CAMBONI, M., MCCARTY, D. M. & FU, H. (2017). Effective depletion of pre-existing anti-AAV antibodies requires broad immune targeting. *Molecular Therapy - Methods & Clinical Development* 4, 159–168.
- VERDERA, H. C., KURANDA, K. & MINGOZZI, F. (2020). AAV vector immunogenicity in humans: a long journey to successful gene transfer. *Molecular Therapy* 28, 723–746.
- VERON, P., LEEORGNE, C., MONTEILHET, V., BOUTIN, S., MARTIN, S., MOULLIER, P. & MASURIER, C. (2012). Humoral and cellular capsid-specific immune responses to adeno-associated virus type 1 in randomized healthy donors. *The Journal of Immunology* **188**, 6418–6424.
- VICTORA, G. D. & NUSSENZWEIG, M. C. (2012). Germinal centers. Annual Review of Immunology 30, 429–457.
- VUCIC, S. & DAVIES, L. (1998). Safety of plasmapheresis in the treatment of neurological disease. Australian and New Zealand Journal of Medicine 28, 301–305.
- WAN, X., PEI, H., ZHAO, M., YANG, S., HU, W., HE, H., MA, S., ZHANG, G., DONG, X., CHEN, C., WANG, D. & LI, B. (2016). Efficacy and safety of rAAV2-ND4 treatment for Leber's Hereditary Optic Neuropathy. *Scientific Reports* 6, 21587.
- WIEN, M. W., FILMAN, D. J., STURA, E. A., GUILLOT, S., DELPEYROUX, F., CRAINIC, R. & HOGLE, J. M. (1995). Structure of the complex between the fab fragment of a neutralizing antibody for type 1 poliovirus and its viral epitope. *Nature Structural Biology* 2, 232–243.
- WINSTEDT, L., JÄRNUM, S., NORDAHL, E. A., OLSSON, A., RUNSTRÖM, A., BOCKERMANN, R., KARLSSON, C., MALMSTRÖM, J., PALMGREN, G. S., MALMQVIST, U., BJÖRCK, L. & KJELLMAN, C. (2015). Complete removal of extracellular IgG antibodies in a randomized dose-escalation Phase I study with the bacterial enzyme IdeS – a novel therapeutic opportunity. *PLoS One* 10, 0132011.
- WOLD, W. & TOTH, K. (2014). Adenovirus vectors for gene therapy, vaccination and cancer gene therapy. *Current Gene Therapy* 13, 421–433.
- WU, T. L., LI, H., FAUST, S. M., CHI, E., ZHOU, S., WRIGHT, F., HIGH, K. A. & ERTL, H. C. J. (2014). CD8+ T cell recognition of epitopes within the capsid of adeno-associated virus 8-based gene transfer vectors depends on vectors' genome. *Molecular Therapy* 22, 42–51.
- WU, Z., YANG, H. & COLOSI, P. (2010). Effect of genome size on AAV vector packaging. *Molecular Therapy* 18, 80–86.
- XIAO, P.-J. & SAMULSKI, R. J. (2012). Cytoplasmic trafficking, endosomal escape, and perinuclear accumulation of adeno-associated virus Type 2 particles are facilitated by microtubule network. *Journal of Virology* 86, 10462–10473.
- XIAO, W., CHIRMULE, N., SCHNELL, M. A., TAZELAAR, J., HUGHES, J. V. & WILSON, J. M. (2000). Route of administration determines induction of T-cellindependent humoral responses to adeno-associated virus vectors. *Molecular Therapy* 1, 323–329.
- YU-WAI-MAN P, MOSTER M, SADUN A, et al. (2019). Efficacy of rAAV2/2-ND4 gene therapy for Leber hereditary optic neuropathy: 96-week data from the phase 3 RESCUE trial. San Francisco.
- YU-WAI-MAN, P., VOTRUBA, M., MOORE, A. T. & CHINNERY, P. F. (2014). Treatment strategies for inherited optic neuropathies: past, present and future. *Eye* 28, 521–537.
- ZAISS, A. K., COTTER, M. J., WHITE, L. R., CLARK, S. A., WONG, N. C. W., HOLERS, V. M., BARTLETT, J. S. & MURUVE, D. A. (2008). Complement is an essential component of the immune response to adeno-associated virus vectors. *Journal of Virology* 82, 2727–2740.
- ZHOU, R., CASPI, R. R. (2010). Ocular immune privilege. F1000 Biology Reports, 2. http://dx.doi.org/10.3410/b2-3.
- ZINN, E., PACOURET, S., KHAYCHUK, V., TURUNEN, H. T., CARVALHO, L. S., ANDRES-MATEOS, E., SHAH, S., SHELKE, R., MAURER, A. C., PLOVIE, E., XIAO, R. & VANDENBERGHE, L. H. (2015). In silico reconstruction of the viral evolutionary lineage yields a potent gene therapy vector. *Cell Reports* 12, 1056–1068.

(Received 1 June 2020; revised and accepted 25 March 2021; published online 9 April 2021)